
Rückblick 2007

1

Nanogate AG
Zum Schacht 3, 66287 Quierschied-Göttelborn, Germany
Telephone +49(0)6825-9591-0, Fax: +49(0)6825-9591-852

Email: info@nanogate.com
www.nanogate.com

Annual Report 2011
Integrated systems growing together



2

Key figures/Contents

Nanogate at a glance

Contents

4 ____________Preface
8 ____________Review 2011
10 ___________Interview
12 ___________Strategy
15 ___________The share
16 ___________Report of the Supervisory Board
18 ___________Group management report
31 ___________ Consolidated income statement
32 ___________ Consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income

33 ___________ Consolidated statement of 
financial position

34 ___________Consolidated statement of cash flows
35 ___________ Consolidated statement of changes 

in equity
36 ___________Consolidated statement of assets
40 ___________ Notes to the consolidated financial 

statements
60 ___________Auditors’ report
61 ___________Imprint, contact

The following refers to the Nanogate Group (in accordance with IFRS, figures in EUR ,000)

2011 2010* 2009** 2008** 2007**
Sales from continuing operations 33,244 15,433 10,703 12,152 10,404
Overall performance 35,029 22,669 14,225 16,450 12,353
Gross profit margin (in %,  

of overall performance) 63.0 66.7 67.8 72.0 71.7
EBITDA 3,493 5,092 -1,231 1,805 1,496
EBIT 991 800 -2,318 1,271 1,628
Earnings before taxes -311 320 -2,602 1,070 1,548

Adjusted EBITDA 4,224 - - - -
Adjusted EBIT 1,722  -  -  -  -
Adjusted earnings before taxes 808 - - - -

Earnings after tax from 
discontinued operations -2,911 -969 - - -

Consolidated net income/loss -3,629 1,456 -1,367 984 1,296
Earnings per share (EUR) *** -1.68 0.67 -0.63 0.45 0.60

Balance sheet total 56,343 54,021 34,322 32,565 22,752
Equity 28,070 24,027 21,084 22,570 19,985
Equity ratio (%) 49.8 44.5 61.4 69.3 84.1

Cash flow from continuing operations 2,955 -626 -1,148 582 1,551
Cash flow from investing activities

without the acquisition of   
Eurogard B.V. -1,739 -2,951 -4,188 -4,951 -2,021

Cash and cash equivalents 8,957 4,067 5,906 8,477 12,378

Employees (average for the year) 234 124 75 68 58
Sales per employee 142 124 144 179 178

* Adjusted retrospectively
** Not adjusted retrospectively
*** Undiluted, the same number of shares as in 2011 is assumed for all prior financial years
Holmenkol AG is no longer included in Group sales or adjusted earnings (EBITDA, EBIT, EBT) for 2011 or on a retrospective basis for 
2010 and is accounted for as a discontinued operation. The same applies for the number of employees (annual average).



Nanogate AG
Nanogate is the leading international integrated systems provider for high-performance 
surfaces. We enhance materials and surfaces with new properties and mobilise the benefits 
of nanotechnology for companies and consumers.

With expertise and technology from Nanogate,
•  surfaces are given new functions.
•  production processes become more efficient.
•  plastics are provided with additional functions.
•  textiles become more powerful.

With help from Nanogate, products become more cost-effective, more powerful and 
better for the environment. With a unique technology portfolio we open up a new world 
of surfaces for our customers. 

We add value. For our customers, for our shareholders and for society.
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Preface

Letter to shareholders

Dear shareholders, ladies and gentlemen, and staff members,

Buoyed by a successful mix of good strategic market positioning, innovation and external growth, combined 
with a strong operating business, Nanogate again generated record sales last year. The Group is profiting 
from its position as a leading international integrated systems provider for high-performance surfaces – our 
customers get expertise in the materials and mass production of nano and high-performance surfaces that is 
second to none in the industry, along with years of experience in mass production runs. Our growth and 
success story are appreciated by outsiders too – in November Nanogate won the Sustained Excellence Award 
at the Deloitte Technology Fast 50 Awards.

Growth will remain our leitmotif in the future as well. That is why we have described our positioning and 
this annual report with the leitmotif of “integrated systems growing together”. We want to integrate all the 
strengths existing at Nanogate and its subsidiaries and use them as a source of energy for our growth. We 
pool strengths, exploit synergies and bundle competences for the benefit of our customers. This enables us 
to permanently expand our market presence in our target sectors.

Nanogate acts as an innovation partner for companies in the four target sectors of automotive/mechanical 
engineering, buildings/interiors, sport/leisure and functional textiles. We use the opportunities offered by 
nanotechnology to enhance existing products and equip them with new properties, especially on their 
surfaces. As an enabler, the systems provider concentrates on the most commercially attractive segments of 
the market for high-performance surfaces and the nanotechnology value chain: we improve existing 
products, make production processes more efficient and enable environmental advantages by reducing the 
consumption of natural resources for example.

Growth strategy gains traction
Nanogate achieved some decisive strategic and operational milestones in the reporting year. At the strategic 
level, we integrated our new subsidiary, the Dutch company Eurogard B.V., smoothly and quickly. Together 
with GfO AG, which was acquired in summer 2010, we as a Group now cover the entire value chain from 
the selection of raw materials and the preparation of materials, via process integration, through to mass 
production. The Group’s capital base was also improved by a successful capital increase. At the operational 
level, Nanogate increased its sales potential substantially, above all with a new project for Jaguar and Land 
Rover. The contract to supply enhanced automotive parts is one of the biggest orders in the company’s 
history.

The growth steps taken in the past are paying off: Nanogate outperformed its targets by a substantial  
margin in the reporting year. Sales from continuing operations rose to a new record of EUR 33.2 million. 
Compared with the previous year, we achieved very high growth. Our targeted profitability mark of 10 % 
was also clearly exceeded with an adjusted EBITDA of EUR 4.2 million and an adjusted EBITDA margin 
of 12.7 %.

Our excellent achievements were, however, marred once more by Holmenkol AG. In view of the difficult 
constellations within the investment, we decided to thoroughly reduce the risk for the Group in several 
steps. Firstly, following the decision to disregard Holmenkol as a strategic business and change it to a 
minority position, the company is now shown under discontinued operations. Secondly, we closed the 
Holmenkol chapter in the balance sheet, writing off both the investment and receivables from the company 
in full. In doing this, we have stayed abreast of the changes of the past few months and will value future 
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business extremely carefully. Notable liabilities that were previously consolidated no longer apply. It was 
therefore possible to adjust the balance sheet with hardly any effect on profit or loss.

We are certain that Nanogate AG will benefit hugely from the decisions that have been taken and that its 
excellent operating performance will continue. The cash flow from continuing operating activities of EUR 
3.0 million achieved in 2011 also strengthens our future potential. Group net debt in the reporting year was 
also reduced and with cash reserves of EUR 9.0 million we have the strong financial backing necessary for 
the next growth steps.

In the current financial year 2012 Nanogate therefore intends to build further on its market position. We 
benefit above all from our good strategic positioning and the complete technology portfolio: more than 
virtually any other provider we support our customers in high-performance surfaces with all-round one-stop 
shopping, both in development and in production. One current example: we started distribution of our 
new energy efficiency coatings in March and thereby achieved a breakthrough in addressing the volume 
market of the energy efficiency application area. At the same time, we also made great progress in the Sport/
Leisure and Functional Textiles divisions, prompting us to pool our activities. The new Nanogate Textile & 
Care Systems GmbH is intended to exploit the potential of these dynamic markets even faster.

Sights set on new record results
In 2012 Nanogate is aiming to set new records: rising demand gives us great confidence for the operating 
business. Profitability should rise faster than sales. With a sales increase of at least 10 %, Nanogate wants to 
continue on its growth path, again expanding by a double-digit percentage rate. Despite many companies’ 
uncertainty about global economic developments, our order base, at a double-figure million amount, has 
improved again. In terms of earnings, we are benefiting from the closer collaboration between our portfolio 
companies, the completion of the innovation offensive and also from further rises in business volumes. 
There is also a trend towards a higher-margin product mix. In 2012 we are therefore counting on an 
earnings improvement of at least 30 %, so that Nanogate could reach an EBITDA margin of at least 15 %. 
Cash flow from operating activities should also improve. This would lay the foundations in the current 
financial year for paying a dividend to our shareholders from the year 2012.

Expansion of international business
In the medium term, we have our sights set firmly on sales of EUR 50 million and an EBITDA margin of 
at least 20 %. We are counting on three main drivers of growth. Thanks to our strong starting position we 
are expanding our market presence in all four target sectors and continuously adding to our capacities – in 
the medium term new jobs could be created in production and surface coating at the company’s headquar-
ters in Saarland for instance. Secondly, we are expecting further progress in opening up the new application 
areas energy efficiency and plastics, which promise particularly attractive margins. Third, we are prepared for 
further external growth, in order to bolster our technology portfolio, production and distribution. In 
parallel, we are concentrating more than ever on developing our international business. Even today, 
Nanogate generates around 40 % of sales with customers outside our domestic German market. We are 
currently elaborating strategies for establishing ourselves in major foreign markets, both in distribution and 
in production. Nanogate is therefore moving into the next phase of its corporate development. For the next 
growth spurt we are relying on a multitude of new applications and greater internationalisation. Our unique 
one-stop shopping concept for high-performance surfaces is a key success factor for the next growth phase. 
We are also scaling up distribution, optimising internal processes and reinforcing our management team. 
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The aim of our growth strategy is to increase Nanogate’s enterprise value consistently. We are confident that 
the steps taken in recent years will pay off in the medium and long term. We would therefore like to thank 
our shareholders for their trust in the company. At the same time, our thanks go to the staff for their great 
commitment.

Nanogate should derive above-average profit from the growing market for nanosurfaces. As a leading 
international integrated systems provider for high-performance surfaces we have a broad technology 
portfolio, comprehensive knowledge of material development and many years of experience in mass 
production. These have brought us to an unprecedented position, also in the international arena. Our recipe 
for success – consisting of market position, innovation, external growth and a powerful serial production 
business – will lift Nanogate into a new dimension of sales and earnings this year.

Yours,

Ralf Zastrau (CEO)  Michael Jung (COO)

Ralf Zastrau (CEO)

Michael Jung (COO)
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Review 2011

Review of 2011: 
Becoming the leading international integrated systems provider

January February March April May June July August September October November December

Cooperation with Kapyfract 

After a successful first joint 

coating project, Nanogate 

and Kapyfract AG from 

 Switzerland, a leading 

European provider of passive

fire protection for tunnels, 

have launched a strategic 

partnership. The aim is 

to realise and distribute 

innovative coatings solutions 

for road tunnels internation-

ally. The new system in 

the nanoGuard® line stops 

surfaces from collecting 

dirt rapidly and means that 

chemical aids are no longer 

necessary for the cleaning 

process. 

First orders for GEA 

 partnership

Nanogate and GEA Air 

Treatment GmbH receive 

the first orders resulting 

from their cooperation pro-

gramme: the two companies 

are expanding their product 

portfolio and developing 

a new generation of filter 

systems. 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital increase completed

Following the capital 

increase for subscription in 

kind the number of shares 

went up to 1,942,639. The 

37,639 new shares are part 

of the purchase price for 

GfO AG. This increases 

the free float to around 

34 %. GfO and Nanogate 

completed their integration 

on schedule in February. 

Another step toward be-

coming a systems provider 

Nanogate acquires the 

Dutch company Eurogard 

B.V., considerably expanding 

its position in the market for 

high-performance surfaces. 

The new equity holding is a 

leading supplier of coatings  

 

 

 

 

for two-dimensional compo-

nents and the number one in 

the global specialist market 

for transparent plastics of 

high optical quality. Selected 

application areas include: 

aircraft windows, com-

mercial vehicles, building 

materials and ski glasses.

Follow-on order from the 

USA

Nanogate continues the 

relationship with a leading 

US bathroom equipment 

company. For instance, 

Nanogate applies a 

transparent protective layer 

to glass surfaces, which 

repels water, limescale and 

dirt. The new agreement 

has a three-year term and 

comprises annual minimum 

sales running well into six 

digits. The two firms have 

been working together 

since 2007. 

Growth potential

The acquisition of Dutch 

company Eurogard B.V. is 

completed successfully. 

Joint growth by further 

 developing international 

business and by means 

of new applications and 

customers are intended 

to strengthen the market 

position. 

Successful capital increase

Nanogate raises around 

EUR 8 million in a capital 

increase. All 529,810 new 

bearer shares were sold. 

As a result of the capital 

increase, free float rises to 

39 %. The issue proceeds 

strengthen the Group’s 

finances for its planned 

growth and funds part of 

the purchase price for the 

new equity holding in Dutch 

company Eurogard B.V. The 

capital increase was signifi-

cantly oversubscribed.

Regional involvement

Nanogate supports a cross-

border cultural project 

run by denkwerkstadt 

Saarbrücken: a nano-

coating now effectively 

protects the Franco-German 

citizens’ sculpture in the 

Franco-German Garden 

from pollution. 

Reference order for tunnel 

coating

In cooperation with Swiss 

company Kapyfract AG, 

Nanogate successfully 

completes the coating of 

the Birth road tunnel on 

the A44 motorway in North 

Rhine-Westfalia. Dirt 

adheres less to the new 

surface, which means the 

reflective surface lasts 

longer. This provides a 

durable improvement to 

visibility and increases road 

safety in the tunnel. The 

company reports a strong 

increase in interest for its 

system solutions.

Production for Jaguar and 

Land Rover

Nanogate reached its 

planned monthly production 

capacity with a million euro 

order for Jaguar and Land 

Rover. The contract is for 

enhanced headlight lenses 

and is one of the largest 

orders in the company’s 

history.

Sustained Excellence 

Award 

Nanogate wins Sustained 

Excellence Award at the 

Deloitte Technology Fast 50 

Award 2011. The award is 

given to companies that can 

boast a growth track and 

success story going back  

 

 

 

several years. Among other 

things, Nanogate’s capacity 

for innovation and social 

commitment impressed the 

jury.

Eye on the volume market

The marketing of new 

energy-efficient coatings 

is in preparation. Nanogate 

expects all systems to be 

approved by its marketing 

and technology partners by 

the end of the first quarter 

of 2012. With this measure, 

Nanogate aims to achieve 

a breakthrough in opening 

up the volume market of the 

application area energy ef-

ficiency, and wants to focus 

initially on the attractive 

market for energy-saving 

heating systems.

Nano sustainability

The nano-sustainability 

check developed recently 

by Oeko-Institut enables a 

standardised evaluation of 

nanoproducts. One case  

 

 

study for significant CO2 re-

ductions was a UV coating 

developed by Nanogate.

New business in the 

 automotive sector

Nanogate profits from 

strong demand for the 

inkjet coating technology 

from its GfO AG subsidiary, 

which is unique in Europe. 

Production begins on new 

multi-year projects for Audi 

and BMW. The two orders 

each have an annual sales 

potential in the six-figure 

euro range.

 

Gesellschaft für
Oberflächentechnik AG
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several years. Among other 

things, Nanogate’s capacity 

for innovation and social 

commitment impressed the 

jury.

Eye on the volume market

The marketing of new 

energy-efficient coatings 

is in preparation. Nanogate 

expects all systems to be 

approved by its marketing 

and technology partners by 

the end of the first quarter 

of 2012. With this measure, 

Nanogate aims to achieve 

a breakthrough in opening 

up the volume market of the 

application area energy ef-

ficiency, and wants to focus 

initially on the attractive 

market for energy-saving 

heating systems.

Sponsorship from environ-

mental foundation

Nanogate is developing a 

novel coating for a filter to 

remove fine-particle matter 

with the financial support 

of Deutsche Bundesstiftung 

Umwelt (DBU), an envi-

ronmental foundation. The 

project centres on reducing 

the energy needed to oper-

ate filters in ventilation and 

air-conditioning systems. It 

has been awarded a grant 

worth a six-figure euro sum.

Serial production for 

Chrysler

A project to coat gear 

lever badges for Chrysler 

is started using Nanogate’s 

inkjet technology, which 

is unique in Europe. This 

gives Nanogate’s position 

in the automotive industry a 

further boost.

Presence at the FAKUMA 

trade fair

The systems provider 

teamed up with GfO and 

Eurogard at the FAKUMA 

trade fair to present their 

joint plastics competence, 

for instance in scratchproof 

or easier-to-clean plastic 

surfaces, anti-fogging and 

anti-reflective coatings.
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“Spectacular success, precisely in the field of  

high-performance surfaces”

In nanotechnology the market for high-performance surfaces is currently the most important, says Professor Dr 
Uwe Hartmann, Director of the Institute for Experimental Physics at Saarland University in Saarbrücken 
and an expert in nanostructural research and nanotechnology

Nanotechnology is on everyone’s lips. What do you consider to be the most spectacular innovations to 
date? 
For me, nanotechnology is spectacular when it gives rise to completely novel products. By novel I mean 
products whose functionality differs sharply from conventional products or that even exhibit functions 
conventional products do not have. In this sense there are certainly spectacular successes in high-perfor-
mance surfaces, in pharmaceutical research and in the healthcare sector overall. Then there are all the 
materials with nano-scale components. Materials based on carbon nanotubes are one example I should 
mention. Electronics are another field in which nanotechnology is increasingly carrying out a “silent 
revolution”, with a transition from micro- to nano-electronics.  

You just mentioned the market segment of high-performance surfaces ...
... where nanotechnology has already made great progress. Many properties of materials take effect on 
the surface. These include tribological properties that reduce friction, biofunctionality and corrosion 
protection. In the field of industrial nanotechnology that’s why the market for high-performance 
surfaces is currently the most important. Various applications are already well established here and new 
applications are set to be launched in the immediate future. There are also a lot of research projects 
involving surface functions, which are looking to make them available for commercial use. The market 
for high-performance surfaces will continue to grow rapidly in the future.

What are the conditions for nanotechnology’s commercial success? 
So far the image associated with nanotechnology has been extremely positive. It is seen as a revolution-
ary technology that can solve virtually any problem. It has often been nominated as an attribute for the 
best product quality. This has made nanotechnology ubiquitous, which in turn means that the users of 
applications or consumers of end-products increasingly take it for granted. In future it will not so much 
be the publicising of nanotechnology that is the condition for success as its consistent ongoing develop-
ment and broader use in extremely innovative and high-performance products. Going forward, the focus 
will no longer be on nanotechnology itself, but on the benefits it brings. This will also be crucial to its 
commercial success. 

Which companies and business models will be the winners in the market? 
Commercial success will be achieved by companies that extract the maximum value from nanotechnol-
ogy, by means of functional enhancement, for instance. Nanotechnology is an “enabling technology”: 
it can provide great benefits, but at first glance only contributes a minor part of a product’s total value 
added. It is therefore vital that suppliers are paid for the competitive advantage generated by nanotech-
nology and not just for the cost of materials. Furthermore, competition between companies will 
increasingly become competition for the best ideas and concepts put into practice. This means that 
innovation, in the form of patents granted and mass production expertise, will become a key competitive 
factor and a much greater determinant of success than company location or wage costs for instance. 
Successful business models therefore have to be adapted in line with this trend, by dovetailing product 
development, publicly funded fundamental research and industrial implementation. It should be 
completely natural for company developers to carry out their work in university laboratories, and 
conversely, for academic scientists to strive for efficient technology transfer, especially to mid-sized 

Professor Dr. Uwe Hartmann
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companies. The interplay between fundamental research, product development and practical execution 
is key to rapid innovation and improving time-to-market.

Many market researchers are expecting rapid growth in the years ahead. What is your forecast?
One thing is certain: the growth prompted by nanotechnology is faster than that induced by any other 
technology in recent decades. However, it is still not easy to give precise rates of growth, because 
nanotechnology is an enabling technology that often contributes indirectly to opening up new markets 
and remains invisible for many users. I believe that the market potential of nanotechnology will grow 
even faster than most forecasts predict. The large application areas like energy, environment and 
healthcare are only just being unlocked – and for true cross-sectional technologies the pace of growth is 
generally higher than originally estimated.

What about safety? There is always talk of safety risks. What do providers like Nanogate and 
 consumers need to look out for?
To start with I should make one thing clear: no actual hazard from nanotechnology has been identified 
to date; all that has happened is the analysis of potential risks. But of course: the topic of safety cannot 
be ignored. Not because nanotechnology is bound up with unintended consequences but because 
scientists like us and companies want to avoid risks. New products, nano-scale substances and especially 
nanotechnological pharmaceutical strategies will always prompt questions about safety – other new 
technologies are subjected to critical evaluation as well. From the commercial perspective, the greatest 
risk is of course that “nano inside” could acquire a negative connotation. The indiscriminate suspicion of 
technology which can arise among the general public and consumers if too little or the wrong informa-
tion is provided has to be countered by total transparency and a public information policy. Companies 
have an obligation to offer safe products and so there is no reason for consumers to look out for anything 
in particular in connection with nanotechnology. Nevertheless, consumers should be given the option of 
choosing whether or not to make use of a nanotechnological product, be it in the food, cosmetics or 
healthcare sector.

Germany and Saarland are among the world’s leading centres of nanotechnology. How can we secure 
this prominent position in the long term?
Germany, and for its size, Saarland too, have had above-average success to date in nanotechnological 
research and nanotechnology. A country’s present ranking is not such a decisive factor for the future, 
however. More important is its current development gradient. And of course there are places where this 
development curve is particularly steep compared with other national and international locations. 
Germany and Saarland therefore need to maximise the pace of development in the field of nanotechnol-
ogy. This happens by means of invention and innovation. Those places that have the most effective 
interaction between research and development and the most effective technology transfer will be the 
most important in future.

To conclude, let us take a look at the current year: what innovations and product launches are you 
expecting this year?
In 2012 nanotechnological achievements will be the “silent pathfinder” for a number of product 
launches. “Silent” means that there will not be a great advertising push for the nanotechnology 
contained in highly innovative surface coatings, in high-performance surfaces, nanostructured materials 
or medical technology applications. Instead we will see a number of “silent revolutions” in the field of 
functional surfaces, high-performance materials, diagnostic and therapeutic products. Nanotechnology 
will continue its triumphal progress in 2012. 
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Growth with intelligent surfaces

Whether at home, in the car or on board of a plane, for leisure activities or in industry, high-perfor-
mance surfaces and the advantages they offer are now an integral part of everyday life. In nearly every 
area of life, consumers benefit from innovative surfaces that are enhanced with new properties thanks to 
high-performance compounds, nanostructures and nanomaterials. They include a wide range of 
components for vehicles, more efficient heating systems, household surfaces that are easier to clean and 
care products for leisure equipment.

In this dynamic environment, Nanogate concentrates on the most commercially attractive segments 
with a future market volume within our reach estimated at around EUR 800 million (of an estimated 
total future market for high-performance surfaces of some EUR 2.9 billion). According to our analysis, 
margins of up to 30 % can be achieved in the most attractive segments such as energy efficiency, optical 
quality surfaces and transparent plastics. Market observers are predicting similarly dynamic growth in 
nanosurfaces. In 2011 the nanotechnology sector could have generated sales of up to USD 1.6 billion 
worldwide with what are dubbed “intelligent” surfaces, according to researchers at Future Markets in 
November 2011. The trend continues to point sharply upwards. As a cross-sectional technology, 
nanotechnology – particularly in combination with high-performance surfaces – acts as a virtual growth 
catalyst for many industries, delivering competitive advantages. Products can be made more cheaply, 
have a lower environmental impact or are given additional functions: these are often decisive differenti-
ating features in the battle for customers.

Nanogate expands market position
Technology from Nanogate – the leading international integrated systems provider for high-perfor-
mance surfaces – is already well established at many companies today. Since our operating launch in 
1999 we have progressed several hundred applications in four target sectors into mass production – our 
vision “Touch us every day” is increasingly becoming reality.
•	 	Automotive/Mechanical	Engineering:	in	the	reporting	year	we	began	several	orders	for	well-known	

car makers including Audi, BMW, Chrysler, Jaguar and Land Rover. We supply headlight lenses, for 
instance, which are equipped with an anti-fog coating, as well as optical quality plastic elements 
such as gear lever badges and scratchproof in-car displays. In the growth market energy efficiency 
the number of heat exchangers coated by Nanogate went up threefold in 2011, including orders for 
Bosch. 

•	 	Buildings/Interiors:	since	January	2011	we	have	been	cooperating	with	the	Swiss	company	Kapy-
fract AG, a leading European provider of fire protection for tunnels, in order to distribute our 
innovative coatings internationally. In August a joint project was completed in North Rhine-West-
phalia. The Birth road tunnel on the A44 motorway was coated with Nanogate technology in order 
to improve safety and minimise cleaning expenses. The partnership with our major US customer in 
the bathroom equipment sector was also extended.

•	 	Sport/Leisure:	in	the	reporting	year	sales	of	care	products	with	Nanogate	technology	reached	seven	
figures. Numerous new products were launched by Nanogate’s customers – other new applications 
are planned for 2012.

•	 	Functional	Textiles:	our	cooperation	programme	with	GEA	Air	Treatment	GmbH	is	developing	to	
plan. We have received the first joint orders and are successively extending our product portfolio, 
also with a new generation of filter systems.
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The advantages of being a systems provider
As a rule, we assume the role of innovation partner for our customers. We act as a systems provider, 
giving our customers all-round support.
•	 	They	receive	finished	systems	consisting	of	the	material	itself,	the	integration	into	the	process	chain	

and the production of the finished surface.
•	 	Nanogate	covers	the	entire	range	of	substrates	–	from	glass	and	concrete	to	plastics	and	metals.
•	 	For	the	enhancement	process	we	have	a	complete	toolbox	of	technology,	so	that	substrates	and	

functions can be dovetailed flexibly with one another. We make surfaces scratchproof, protect them 
against corrosion, or give them flame-resistant and antimicrobial properties.

•	 	As	a	Group,	we	can	process	both	two	and	three-dimensional	components.	In	the	lucrative	special	
segment of transparent plastics we are a global market leader. For optical quality coatings we are the 
only company in Europe to use a unique inkjet technology, which enables selective coatings to be 
applied without the use of templates.

•	 	As	a	systems	provider	we	concentrate	primarily	on	large-scale	projects	in	order	to	operate	our	
development and production facilities as close to capacity as possible and to generate economies of 
scale.

 
Close to the customer – integration complete
As a holding company, Nanogate is now in an ideal position to exploit the benefits of nanotechnology 
for customers in our four target sectors. In the enhancement of plastics with high optical quality 
Eurogard B.V. concentrates on two-dimensional components and GfO AG on three-dimensional 
components. Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, alongside Eurogard and GfO, focuses on high-
performance surfaces for automotive and mechanical engineering as well as for Buildings/Interiors. 
Since the beginning of 2012 the Sport/Leisure and Functional Textiles divisions have been merged into 
the new Nanogate Textile and Care Systems GmbH.

As the holding company, Nanogate is responsible for the operational and strategic management of the 
Group. This is also where central materials development and production are located, in order to make 
use of synergies and avoid duplication. Furthermore, the holding company is responsible for other 
overarching functions such as finances, controlling and joint services for all Group companies. With this 
holding structure and the operationally independent portfolio companies, we can seize opportunities in 
individual markets rapidly and stay in close touch with the requirements of each industry.

The integration of the new equity holdings Eurogard B.V. and GfO AG has already been successfully 
completed, so that in future the entire Group will operate with a coordinated product range, integrated 
development and production, and a powerful sales force. Example number one: since the integration of 
Eurogard was completed in the third quarter of 2011 the new company has been using a UV-cured 
Nanogate material to coat flat plastic geometries. The marketing is already underway.

By acquiring these two companies we have increased the international growth potential and can develop 
new products faster at the same time. We will derive the full benefit from this in 2012 and intend to 
bring numerous new products to market with existing and new customers. In parallel, we want to 
extend our distribution network, particularly abroad. This is intended to give another boost to the next 
phase of our company’s development.
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Growth markets energy efficiency and plastics
In recent years Nanogate added considerably to its product range with a wide-ranging innovation 
offensive and now has a complete modular technology portfolio. Among the most important innova-
tions in the reporting year were multi-functional and scratchproof coatings for plastics. Thanks to UV 
curing, the permaResist® polymer system is particularly cost-effective.

In the current year Nanogate is concentrating primarily on developing new systems for the two 
particularly promising application areas plastics and energy efficiency. We see substantial growth 
potential in particular in energy efficiency coatings for heating systems and began marketing our new 
energy efficiency coatings in March. We intend to expand the product portfolio in order to penetrate the 
volume market in cooperation with leading makers of heating systems.

Sustainability is a growth driver
Nanogate ramped up its activities for achieving environmental benefits and conserving resources by 
means of high-performance surfaces in the reporting year. We received a six-figure grant from the 
environmental foundation Deutsche Bundesstiftung Umwelt (DBU) to develop new energy-efficient 
fine-particle filters. Improved dust recovery and greater durability are intended to make the filters more 
cost-effective. The filter fleece can be used in exhaust and ventilation technology in industrial facilities as 
well as in air filtration systems for use in low-energy and passive-energy houses. In the medium term, we 
also see considerable sales potential in new, lighter plastics. Car manufacturers in particular are trying to 
minimise costs by the use of new materials, in order to reduce their vehicles’ fuel consumption. All 
Nanogate’s applications and solutions that contribute to protecting the environment are distributed 
under the Green Nano brand. 

Founding member of new industry association DV Nano
Nanogate is redoubling its efforts for the industry: COO Michael Jung is on the steering committee of 
the recently founded Deutscher Verband Nanotechnology (DV Nano), a trade body. DV Nano will act 
as a central platform to represent the interests of the industry towards consumers and business, and in 
political circles. Since the company was established it has promoted a dialogue between the general 
public and the sector, calling for uniform quality and safety standards for the industry. Nanogate is 
therefore involved in and has sometimes initiated numerous international projects. Nanogate was also 
represented	in	the	federal	government’s	NanoKommission,	which	was	disbanded	in	February	2011.	In	
addition, CEO Ralf Zastrau is active in various organisations, including the Bertelsmann Foundation, 
on behalf of the Saarland region.
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The share

As of: 31.1.2012,  
figures rounded
1)   The shareholder in NanoTec
  Beteiligungen GmbH is the 

management of Nanogate 
AG.

 Free float 39,0 %

 NanoTec Beteiligungen
 GmbH1 6,0 %

 BIP Investment Partners 
 25,0 %

Shareholder structure 

HeidelbergCapital  
Private Equity  
Fund I 30,0 % 

The performance of stock markets suffered severely in 2011 under the financial crisis and concerns about the 
state of the economy, particularly in the second half of the year. The main German index DAX lost around 18 % 
over the course of the year and the TecDAX nearly 20 %. The Entry Standard index even tumbled by almost 
34 %. Despite this general market trend and notwithstanding the capital increase, the Nanogate share rose by 
around 5 % over the course of the year (Xetra prices) and therefore outperformed the main German indices by a 
considerable margin. The share started the reporting year at EUR 15.75. It reached a high of EUR 21.38 in June 
and a low of EUR 12.57 after the capital increase had been completed. By the end of the year the share price 
went back up past the EUR 16 mark to close the year at EUR 16.59. The market capitalisation rose by more 
than a third to around EUR 41 million at the end of the year (previous year: EUR 30 million). Higher trading 
volumes are also an indication of the Nanogate share’s increased attractiveness: average daily turnover (across all 
German stock exchanges) nearly doubled to 3,334 shares per trading day, compared with 1,748 in 2010.

Nanogate intensified its dialogue with capital markets over the past year. The company remained in regular 
contact with investors, analysts and financial journalists by taking part in numerous one-on-one meetings, 
roadshows and investor conferences. One focus of communications was the takeover of Eurogard B.V. in April 
2011 and its advantages. Another highlight was the capital increase completed in July 2011. One of the most 
important communication events was the company’s first attendance at a capital markets conference organised 
in London by the LBBW in April. Nanogate also attended the Munich Capital Markets Conference in May for 
the first time. The company was additionally present at the German Equity Forum, the Small Cap Conference 
and the Entry and General Standards Conference in Frankfurt am Main. The shareholders’ meeting held in 
June 2011 approved all the proposals on the agenda by a large majority. This year Nanogate will again attend a 
large number of capital market conferences.

Following two capital increases, one in spring, the other in summer, the free float rose to 39 %. The largest 
investors are still HeidelbergCapital Private Equity Fund I and BIP Investment Partners. In March the capital 
increase of 37,639 shares for subscription in kind took effect; it is one component of the purchase price for the 
equity interest of 51 % in GfO AG. In the summer Nanogate raised gross proceeds of around EUR 8 million 
by issuing 529,810 new bearer shares. With the completion of the capital increase for cash in July, the number 
of shares rose to 2,472,449. Nanogate used the proceeds to finance part of the purchase price for the new equity 
holding Eurogard B.V. and to strengthen the finances of the Group for further growth. The capital increase was 
significantly oversubscribed.

Three well-known research firms analyse the Nanogate share and recommend it as a buy: equinet Bank AG has 
a target price of EUR 22 (as of 11.10.2011), Landesbank Baden-Württemberg has a target price of EUR 22 (as 
of 6.10.2011) and quirin bank AG has a target price of EUR 24 (as of 21.11.2011). 

The company makes all its publications, information and financial calendar available in both German and 
English. The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards on a voluntary basis. 

Share details

Stock market segment Entry Standard
WKN	/	ISIN A0JKHC	/	DE000A0JKHC9
Number of shares in circulation 2,472,449
Designated sponsor equinet Bank AG, LBBW
Share price at start/end of year (Xetra) EUR 15.75 / EUR 16.59
Share price high/low for the year (Xetra) EUR 21.38 / EUR 12.57
Market capitalisation at year-end EUR 41.02 million

Source: Bloomberg

The share
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Report of the Supervisory Board

Dear shareholders, 

Nanogate AG can again look back on a record year. With sales of EUR 33.2 million and an adjusted 
EBITDA margin of 12.7 % we have clearly exceeded our targets. The order base was strengthened again 
with lucrative contracts from the automotive industry, amongst others. The Group also reached 
important strategic as well as operating targets. Nanogate established itself as an international integrated 
systems provider for high-performance surfaces. Following the takeover of Eurogard B.V., the world 
leader in the specialist market for transparent plastics, Nanogate is well positioned in the high-perfor-
mance surfaces sector. Together with the equity interest in GfO acquired in 2010, the company now has 
an attractive technology portfolio mapping the value chain. The milestones reached in 2011 will support 
us well in the current financial year and form the basis for our ambitious targets for market share, sales 
and returns. Our sights are still set on growth.

The Supervisory Board followed the strategic positioning as an international integrated systems provider 
for high-performance surfaces and the company’s growth in detail, thereby fulfilling its control function 
with regard to the Management Board. There were no changes to the Supervisory Board or the 
Management Board in the reporting year. The Supervisory Board was present in full at all five meetings 
in 2011, to which the Management Board was also invited. In 2011 the Supervisory Board meetings 
took place on 15 March in Frankfurt/Main, on 2 May in Göttelborn, on 13 September in Schwäbisch 
Gmünd, on 15 November in Göttelborn and on 14 December in Trier. Current matters were also 
discussed in conference calls arranged for the purpose or by the circulation of documents and duly 
agreed upon. The subjects discussed by the Supervisory Board and the Management Board in the year 
under review mainly related to the company’s medium and long-term strategy, the review of expansion 
opportunities, in particular the later takeover of Eurogard B.V. and the ensuing capital increase, the 
reorganisation of the Group, the strategic planning and transaction for Holmenkol AG as well as the 
preparation and execution of the shareholders’ meeting. Other regular agenda items included corporate 
planning and financing, cash flow planning, current sales and earnings performance, risk provisioning, 
and progress in key projects. The Management Board provided us with regular oral and written informa-
tion on the course of business, the company’s present situation and plans for the future and on its 
strategic development. The Supervisory Board was also notified of business developments in between 
meetings by means of reports from the controlling department and other special reports. 

This guaranteed that the Supervisory Board was able to carry out all its duties in line with statutory 
regulations and the articles of association. Thanks to the extensive reporting carried out by the Manage-
ment Board we saw no need to make use of the statutory possibility to inspect the company’s accounts 
and files. We also did not find it necessary to appoint experts for special tasks (Section 111 (2) of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)). In the 2011 financial year the Supervisory Board had two 
committees: an Audit Committee, which dealt primarily with the preparation of the annual financial 
statements, and a Compensation Committee for remuneration matters. These were set up to enable 
topics of particular relevance to be prepared and reviewed in detail. As Nanogate AG is listed in the 
unregulated Entry Standard it does not have to follow the German Corporate Governance Code for 
publicly listed companies. The company nonetheless complies voluntarily with the stricter requirements 
of the Prime Standard in some aspects of its reporting. They include financial reporting in line with 
IFRS and the publication of important company news in English. The Group also plans to publish 
voluntary reports on its business performance on a quarterly basis.
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The auditors CM Treuhandgesellschaft Regensburg mbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft/Steuerbera-
tungsgesellschaft, Regensburg, audited the consolidated financial statements, the Group management 
report, and the individual financial statements together with the management report for the financial 
year 2011. They issued each of them with an unqualified audit certificate. The auditors’ reports were sent 
to all six members of the Supervisory Board in good time and were discussed in detail at the Supervisory 
Board meeting held on 26 April 2012. The auditors were present during this discussion to answer 
questions from the Supervisory Board and reported on the main findings of their audit. The Supervisory 
Board carried out a thorough inspection of all the necessary documents – separate annual financial 
statements, consolidated annual financial statements, management report and Group management 
report. The Supervisory Board has no objections to the documents presented and concurs with the 
findings of the auditors. The Supervisory Board approved the separate and the consolidated annual 
financial statements at its meeting on 26 April 2012. The separate annual financial statements are 
thereby confirmed. After establishing ourselves that they are correct and complete, we expressly approve 
the Management Board’s statements on relations with affiliated companies as presented in the manage-
ment report. In our opinion the statements made by the Management Board are complete and accurate. 

Last year the sustained commitment of the workforce and the Management Board were again a vital key 
to the Group’s success. We would like to thank them sincerely for their work. Our thanks go to our 
shareholders, customers and business partners for their trust in the performance and potential of our 
company. We are convinced that Nanogate will continue to grow in the current 2012 financial year and 
that its unique positioning as a leading international integrated systems provider will pay off in the long 
run too. 

Göttelborn, 26 April 2012

Oliver Schumann
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Group management report 2011 for Nanogate AG,  

Quierschied-Göttelborn

1. Business report

1.1. The Nanogate Group’s service profile
  The Nanogate Group (Nanogate) is the leading international integrated systems provider for 

high-performance surfaces. The company uses high-performance materials to enhance surfaces, 
applying its existing competences in nanomaterials, nanosurfaces and nanostructures. As an 
integrated systems provider the company can draw on the full range of skills in materials 
development as well as in process integration and mass production. Nanogate harnesses the 
diverse possibilities offered by nanotechnology and high-performance surfaces for companies from 
a wide variety of sectors. Nanogate has broad practical expertise in the fields of physical and 
chemical nanotechnology. With its knowledge of the properties of high-performance materials 
and surface technologies, combined with its process and engineering expertise, Nanogate enables 
its customers to access multifunctional surfaces. The aim is to improve products by the use of 
nanotechnology and high-performance surfaces. This is intended to increase the competitiveness 
and profitability of Nanogate’s customers. As an enabler, Nanogate is the central interface between 
manufacturers of the source materials and suppliers of innovative industrial products. The focus is 
always on creating value – for customers and for Nanogate itself. The Group concentrates on the 
target sectors Automotive/Mechanical Engineering, Buildings/Interiors, Sport/Leisure and 
Functional Textiles as well as on particularly high-potential sectors such as energy efficiency and 
plastics.

1.2. The Nanogate Group
  The Nanogate Group consists of the parent company Nanogate AG, based in Quierschied-Göttel-

born, and the portfolio companies Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH (NIS), Quierschied-
Göttelborn, GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG (GfO), Schwäbisch Gmünd, and 
Eurogard B.V. Geldrop, the Netherlands, as well as Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH 
(since 1 January 2012, previously FNP GmbH), Quierschied-Göttelborn. In the reporting period 
Nanogate	reduced	its	equity	holding	in	HOLMENKOL	AG	(Holmenkol),	Ditzingen.	The	
consolidated financial statements for 2011 were prepared in accordance with international 
accounting standards, IFRS. The company has two segments: its core business Multifunctional 
Surfaces and the Advanced Applications segment.

 1.2.1.   Nanogate AG
   As a holding company, the parent company Nanogate AG concentrates on the strategic 

and operational management of the Group and its operating equity holdings. Central 
material development and production as well as central functions such as finance, 
controlling and joint services for all Group companies are also pooled in the holding 
company. In the reporting year it also included the Sport/Leisure and Functional Textiles 
divisions, which were merged in Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH as of 1 January 
2012.

 1.2.2.  Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH  
   Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH is a wholly owned subsidiary of Nanogate AG. The 

company concentrates on the industrial implementation of various high-performance 
surfaces and on the market for metal surfaces. The focus is on innovative material systems 
and high-quality optical surfaces for the application areas Automotive/Mechanical 
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Engineering and Buildings/Interiors. Its business volume continued to increase thanks to 
new projects in the fi eld of energy effi  ciency and coatings for road tunnels for instance.

 1.2.3.   GfO Gesellschaft für Oberfl ächentechnik AG
   Nanogate AG holds an equity interest of 51 % (with a call option for the remaining shares) 

in Gesellschaft für Oberfl ächentechnik AG (GfO). Th e transaction also includes an option 
to purchase the remaining shares and was concluded with the registration of the capital 
increase for subscription in kind as part of the purchase price in March 2011. Th e 
technology company GfO specialises in technical and optical surface enhancement as well 
as using an inkjet technology unique in Europe to apply coatings. GfO continued its 
course of profi table growth with numerous new projects, including for Audi and BMW.

 1.2.4.   Eurogard B.V.
   In June 2011 Nanogate completed the take-over of Dutch company Eurogard B.V., which 

had been announced in April. Th e company specialises in enhancing surfaces on two-
dimensional components and is the global market leader in the lucrative specialist sector of 
coating transparent plastics. Eurogard concentrates on the buildings/interiors, aviation, 
and automotive/mechanical engineering sectors. Eurogard reported higher sales and was 
again highly profi table.

 1.2.5.   Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH
   Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH was founded through the renaming of FNP 

GmbH with eff ect from 1 January 2012. Th e company has taken on the business of the 
Sport/Leisure and Functional Textiles divisions as Nanogate wants to accelerate its progress 
in this growing market. Th e portfolio company’s sales are expected to reach seven fi gures 
and earnings to be clearly positive as early as the 2012 fi nancial year.

  Group organisational chart
  Nanogate Group: Overview
  of majority holdings
  

  

Nanogate 
Textile & Care 

Systems GmbH

100 %

Nanogate 
Industrial 

 Solutions GmbH

100 %

Eurogard B.V.

100 %

GfO AG

51 % 
(plus call option for 
remaining shares)

Nanogate AG

 1.2.6.   HOLMENKOL AG
   In	December	2011	Nanogate	AG	reduced	its	equity	interest	in	HOLMENKOL	AG	to	a	

minority stake and no longer considers the investment as strategically viable (“discontinued 
operations”).	HOLMENKOL	operates	in	the	leisure/sports	surfaces	fi	eld	and	is	a	long-
established company, with particular experience in winter sports.

1.3. Company management – goals and strategy
  Nanogate is pursuing a long-term growth strategy so that it can continue to improve its good 

market position. Its overriding goal is to increase the value of the company. To achieve this, the 
company is concentrating on four particularly attractive application areas as well as on developing 
new technologies and solutions, primarily in the high-potential specialist areas of energy effi  ciency 
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and plastics. The intention is to gain new customers and distribution partners – if possible, 
internationally active market leaders in their fields – with both existing and new technologies. 
Beyond this, Nanogate’s focus is on continuing its activities to open up international markets. Of 
the many possibilities offered by nanotechnology in combination with high-performance surfaces, 
only a fraction have as yet been realised. This market therefore offers great growth opportunities 
and earnings potential. For this reason, developing new products, acquiring more customers and 
opening up additional market segments and regions are currently the company’s main objectives. 
With its large customer base, its positioning as the leading international integrated systems 
provider and its technological expertise, Nanogate – one of Europe’s market leaders – is particu-
larly well placed to considerably improve its competitive position on this market, which is worth 
billions. The Group takes care, as far as possible, to safeguard its profitability in spite of substan-
tial initial costs. Nanogate strives to find a balance between investing in growth and optimising its 
cost structure. The most important control variables are sales, gross earnings, EBITDA, EBIT, 
EBT, cash flow, investments and staff efficiency.

  In a monthly reporting system for the Group as a whole, target-performance comparisons are 
made and deviations analysed. In addition, control is exercised via qualitative results such as the 
development of new solutions, the acquisition of reference customers, and certifications by 
customers, suppliers, external institutions and companies.

1.4.  The international economic situation 
  Last year the global economy grew less rapidly than in 2010. In the fourth quarter in particular, 

the international debt crisis weighed on the real economy. According to the International 
Monetary Fund (IMF), worldwide gross domestic product rose by 3.8 % (previous year: 5.2 %). 
With growth of 3.0 % (previous year: 3.6 %), Germany took the first place among industrialised 
Western countries, despite the slight slowdown. The euro area increased by 1.6 % (previous year: 
1.9 %) and the USA by 1.8 % (previous year: 3.0 %).

  In Germany it was precisely the sectors addressed by Nanogate which turned out to be the drivers 
of growth. The German car makers set a new production record, increasing output by 6 % to 
nearly 5.9 million vehicles, according to the automotive industry association. The chemical 
industry association also reported record sales. Its sector grew faster than originally expected, with 
production up by 4 %. The mechanical engineering sector increased its production by 12 % 
(adjusted for inflation), as shown by figures from its trade association VDMA. The market 
research	institute	GfK	put	the	rise	in	consumer	spending	at	1.5	%	in	real	terms	for	2011.

1.5.  The economic significance of nanotechnology: market, competition, customers
  Nanotechnology is established in many sectors as a driver of innovation. As a cross-sectional 

technology it catalyses technical progress by means of better products or more efficient processes 
for example. Nanotechnology thereby contributes to improving companies’ competitiveness. 
Demand for solutions and applications based on nanotechnology is therefore partially dependent 
on the general economic situation. An economic downturn can nevertheless curb customers’ 
enthusiasm for investing in innovation.

  So far, sales of nanotechnological solutions and systems have grown continuously. In November 
2011 researchers at Future Markets considered a sales potential of up to USD 1.6 billion to be 
feasible for nanosurfaces in the reporting year. According to an older study dating from 2010, the 
potential volume was put at USD 1.3 billion. Despite these forecasts, market data for this 
comparatively young, heterogeneous and at the same time dynamic sector is hard to come by and 
of limited use. The main customer industries are thought to be medical/healthcare, household, 
buildings/interior, textiles/clothing, automotive and aviation. Particularly in demand are systems 
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that maintain the value of surfaces (e.g. coatings that protect against corrosion or abrasion), 
reduce the need for cleaning (“easy-to-clean”), have an antimicrobial effect or improve energy 
efficiency.

  According to the German Environment Minister Norbert Röttgen, more than 900 companies 
with over 60,000 employees are involved in developing nanotechnology in Germany. At the 
presentation	in	February	last	year	of	the	final	report	by	the	federal	government’s	NanoKommis-
sion, which was established in 2006, Röttgen also referred to the opportunities for nanotechnol-
ogy in the field of energy efficiency.

1.6.  Overview of business results
  Nanogate again generated record sales in the reporting year. Revenue reached a new high of EUR 

33.2 million. At the same time the earnings target of at least 10 % was exceeded with an adjusted 
EBITDA margin of 12.7 %. This gratifying operating performance confirms the company’s strong 
strategic positioning.

  By acquiring the Dutch company Eurogard B.V. in June 2011, Nanogate established itself as a 
leading international integrated systems provider for high-performance surfaces. The Group and 
its portfolio companies cover the entire value chain – from the selection of raw materials via 
material development and process integration through to mass production, of both two and 
three-dimensional components. Even by international standards Nanogate has unique expertise 
and experience in terms of materials competence and production know-how. Last year the first 
joint projects were kicked off: Nanogate and Eurogard acquired a well-known leading interna-
tional manufacturer of plastic panels with a commission for a coating system.

  Nanogate improved its results substantially in all four target sectors in the reporting year. In 
certain applications and systems, sales even tripled. Numerous new multi-year projects started up 
in the Automotive/Mechanical Engineering product area, including for Audi, BMW and 
Chrysler. The Buildings/Interiors application field profited from new projects in tunnel coatings 
and an extension of the existing supply agreement with a US bathroom equipment manufacturer. 
The Sport/Leisure division continued on its growth track with many new products. Sales of 
products for end consumers reached seven figures. The Functional Textiles division also scaled up 
with several new mass applications. The Group made important progress in the particularly 
high-potential application areas of energy efficiency and plastics. In the energy efficiency area, 
sales volume and revenue tripled for coatings for heat exchangers. Internally, Nanogate improved 
its processes across the board. Activities included company-wide innovation management, 
cooperation with portfolio companies and optimisation of the management and documentation 
system.

1.7.  Sales and earnings position
  Group sales increased to a new record high of EUR 33.2 million in the reporting year (previous 

year: EUR 15.4 million). Strong new business contributed to this success, as did the two new 
equity holdings GfO AG (consolidated for the full year for the first time) and Eurogard B.V. 
(consolidated from 1 July 2011). Holmenkol is no longer included in Group sales for 2011 or in 
the adjusted earnings indicators (EBITDA, EBIT, EBT), nor is it included on a retrospective basis 
for 2010. The company is now accounted for under discontinued operations.

  In the core Multifunctional Surfaces business, sales increased to EUR 33.2 million (previous year: 
EUR 15.4 million). The Advanced Applications segment achieved sales of EUR 0.09 million 
(previous year: EUR 0.01 million). The segment also benefited from public funding, including a 
grant from Deutsche Stiftung Umwelt (BDU) to develop a new kind of coating for fine-particle 
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filters. The focus remains on developing technology and opening up new markets. International 
business is a key growth driver, contributing 39 % to Group sales in the reporting year (previous 
year: 33 %). Nanogate is active in around 30 countries. Overall performance (sales, changes in 
inventories, own work capitalised and other operating income) increased to EUR 35.0 million 
(previous year: EUR 22.7 million). Total revenue (sales plus other operating income) came to 
EUR 33.9 million (previous year: EUR 20.5 million).

  Nanogate continues to count on opening up new markets by means of additional applications 
and solutions. As announced, expenses for the development of new applications are falling, 
however, as the comprehensive innovation offensive has been brought to a successful conclusion. 
Own work  capitalised therefore fell to EUR 1.1 million in the reporting year (previous year: EUR 
2.2 million). The focus was on new applications for the fields of energy efficiency and plastics, 
which offer particularly rich potential. In accordance with IAS 38, development expenses were 
only capitalised for products that are expected to be brought to market in the near future. In 
addition to the capitalisable own work, other research and development expenses amounted to 
some EUR 2.5 million (previous year: EUR 2.9 million). This corresponds to an R&D ratio of 
11 % (previous year: 25 %). Investment and development expenses will continue to decline in 
relative terms.

  Other operating income came to EUR 0.7 million in the reporting year (previous year: EUR 5.1 
million). The previous year’s higher figure stems primarily from one-off effects in connection with 
the acquisition of GfO AG. The cost of materials went up as a result of greater business volumes 
to EUR 13.0 million (previous year: EUR 7.6 million). Changes in the product mix caused the 
cost of materials as a percentage of overall performance to rise to 37.1 % (previous year: 33.3 %). 
The gross profit margin (in relation to overall performance) of 63.0 % (previous year: 66.7 %) 
was also affected by changes in the product mix. Personnel expenses increased to EUR 12.2 
million due to consolidation changes (previous year: EUR 6.1 million). The ratio of personnel 
expenses to overall performance came to 34.8 % (previous year: 26.8 %).

  The core Multifunctional Surfaces business again demonstrated its profitability. Segment earnings 
rose to EUR 2.9 million (previous year: EUR 2.6 million). Segment earnings in the high-poten-
tial Advanced Applications business improved as expected to EUR -1.3 million (previous year: 
EUR -3.8 million), despite the costs of technology development and opening up new markets.

Overview of the segments

Multifunctional Surfaces Advanced Applications
2011 2010 2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000
Segment revenue 33,159 15,422 85 11
Segment earnings 2,884 2,611 -1,344 -3,809

  Nanogate exceeded both its sales and its return expectations. Adjusted consolidated EBITDA 
came to EUR 4.2 million. The adjusted EBITDA margin of 12.7 % was ahead of the target  
of 10 %.

  In 2011 depreciation and amortisation amounted to EUR 2.5 million (previous year: EUR 4.3 
million). Adjusted consolidated EBIT came to EUR 1.7 million, equivalent to an adjusted 
EBITDA margin of 5.1 %. Adjusted earnings before taxes came to EUR 0.8 million. In the 
adjusting of the earnings indicators, one-off extraordinary expenses from Holmenkol AG in the 
amount of EUR 0.7 million were not included.
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  Consolidated EBITDA stood at EUR 3.5 million (previous year: EUR 5.1 million), consolidated 
EBIT at EUR 1.0 million (previous year: EUR 0.8 million) and earnings before taxes at EUR -0.3 
million (previous year: EUR 0.3 million). All non-adjusted earnings indicators are marked by the 
extraordinary effects at Holmenkol AG.

  The higher interest expenses resulted from the slightly higher liabilities to banks following the 
takeover of Eurogard B.V. After-tax earnings from continuing operations were EUR -0.5 million 
(previous year: EUR 2.0 million). In the previous year the value of the deferred taxes was 
considerably higher.

  The result of discontinued operations (Holmenkol AG) came to EUR -2.9 million (previous year: 
EUR -1.0 million). This stems primarily from the one-off, non-cash impairment loss of EUR 2.4 
million recognised on the shares in Holmenkol AG. This loss was recognised in the course of fair 
value measurement (see also risk report on page 28).

  Due to the compounded expenses from the activities to be discontinued, Nanogate AG was left 
with a consolidated net loss (attributable to equity providers) of EUR -3.6 million (previous year: 
EUR 1.5 million). Earnings per share (diluted) from continued operations were EUR -0.48 
(previous year: EUR 1.27).

1.8.  Assets and financial position
  Nanogate improved its financial position significantly in the reporting year. The Group benefited 

above all from its much improved cash flow from operating activities and a successful capital 
increase, which delivered gross proceeds of around EUR 8 million. The Group’s assets and 
financial position are also marked by the acquisition of Eurogard B.V.. In the context of the 
deconsolidation, the costs of Holmenkol AG’s restructuring were offset by lower bank liabilities of 
a similar amount, with the result that the negative effects were almost completely balanced.

  The equity ratio went up to 49.8 % (previous year: 44.5 %) and cash balances rose sharply to 
EUR 9.0 million (previous year: EUR 4.1 million). 

  The balance sheet total went up to EUR 56.3 million (previous year: EUR 54.0 million). 
Non-current assets dropped to EUR 40.9 million (previous year: EUR 41.8 million). Intangible 
assets came to EUR 18.6 million (previous year: EUR 17.9 million). Property, plant and 
equipment totalled EUR 17.2 million (previous year: EUR 16.9 million). The minority invest-
ment in Holmenkol AG, which was written off in full, is now accounted for using the equity 
method. Inventories decreased to EUR 1.9 million (previous year: EUR 3.3 million). Trade 
receivables sank to EUR 3.8 million (previous year: 4.4 million).

  Equity improved to EUR 28.1 million (previous year: EUR 24.0 million). In August 2011 the 
Group received gross proceeds of around EUR 8 million in exchange for 529,810 shares as part of 
a capital increase. Another capital increase of 37,639 shares (in kind, as part of the share price for 
GfO AG) took effect in March 2011. As share options have been exercised, the number of shares 
issued at year-end was 2,478,229 (previous year: 1,905,000), corresponding to subscribed capital 
of EUR 2,478,229 (previous year: EUR 1,905,000). Bank liabilities went up by a smaller 
percentage to EUR 15.5 million (previous year: EUR 13.2 million). A low-interest loan for the 
acquisition of Eurogard B.V. was offset by capital repayments by GfO AG and the deconsolida-
tion of Holmenkol AG. Non-current liabilities rose to EUR 19.9 million (previous year: EUR 
19.2 million). Trade payables fell to EUR 1.9 million (previous year: EUR 3.0 million).
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  Thanks to its strong sales performance, Nanogate achieved a positive cash flow from operating 
activities. Cash flow from operating activities in continuing operations came to EUR 3.0 million 
(previous year: EUR -0.6 million). Cash flow from investing and financing activities were affected 
by the successful capital increase, the acquisition of Eurogard B.V. for a price of around EUR 10 
million and the borrowing to finance the purchase price. Cash flow from financing activities in 
continuing operations came to EUR 13.9 million (previous year: EUR 1.2 million) and cash flow 
from investing activities in continuing operations to EUR -11.7 million (previous year: EUR -2.4 
million). Along with the acquisition of the shares in Eurogard, this included significant invest-
ments in property, plant and equipment. The Group’s strong financial profile is reinforced by 
additional unused credit lines.

1.9.  Employees
  The takeover and subsequent consolidation of the Dutch company Eurogard B.V. took the 

number of employees on the reporting date to 242 (previous year: 229). On average over the year 
the Group had 234 employees (FTE) (previous year: 124). Sales per employee came to around 
EUR 142,000 (previous year: around EUR 124,000). At year-end the Group employed six 
apprentices (previous year: seven). 

1.10. Research and development
  As a technology company Nanogate concentrates mainly on developing new systems and 

applications. The company has an active patent strategy to secure its competitive pre-eminence 
and to create the conditions for generating licensing revenue. As of the reporting date 71 patents 
had been granted and 55 were pending.

  The company also attaches great importance to effective systems, error-free processes, high 
product quality and the careful use of scarce resources. Nanogate was a trailblazer in the industry 
and obtained the relevant certificates at an early stage. Its certification under ISO DIN 9001 
(quality management) and ISO DIN 14001 (environmental management) was confirmed in 
January 2011 and demonstrates the Group’s sophisticated quality and environmental ambitions.

  In the period 2008 to 2010 Nanogate carried out a wide-ranging innovation offensive, making 
considerable investments in expanding and filling out the technology and application portfolio. 
The company nonetheless continues to develop new products and systems continually, in order to 
bolster its competitiveness. The focus is on refinements and advancements, particularly in the two 
particularly high-potential specialist areas of energy efficiency and plastics. They include new coat-
ings for three-dimensional plastic components for instance. Furthermore, in 2011 Nanogate 
coordinated its existing technology building blocks with the systems in place at the two new 
portfolio companies GfO AG and Eurogard B.V. The R&D ratio came to some 11 % in the 
reporting period (previous year: around 25 %). The relative decline stems from both higher 
revenue and the successfully completed innovation programme and the resulting lower rate of 
investment.

  For reasons of efficiency the company leaves fundamental and applied research to recognised 
research institutes with which cooperation agreements exist, such as the INM – Leibniz-Institut 
für Neue Materialien gGmbH in Saarbrücken, the Fraunhofer Institute for Biomedical Technol-
ogy	in	St.	Ingbert,	the	Plastics	technology	department	of	the	Kaiserslautern	University	of	Applied	
Sciences, the Test and Research Institute Pirmasens and Oeko-Institut Freiburg.

1.11. Sustainability
  Last year Nanogate won the Sustained Excellence Award from the Deloitte Technology Fast 50 for 

its social commitment, great capacity for innovation and rapid growth rates. As a leader in the 
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industry the company has a wide range of commitments and also assumes its responsibility for 
overriding matters. This includes making an active contribution to the debate about the sustain-
ability and safety of new technologies.

  This was the background to Nanogate COO Michael Jung’s membership of the federal govern-
ment’s	NanoKommission,	which	was	active	until	February	2011,	where	he	chaired	a	working	
group on the opportunities and risks in the field of nanomaterials and nanoproducts. In another 
important step Nanogate was one of the founder members and has a seat on the steering 
committee of the new trade association Deutscher Verband Nanotechnologie e.V. established in 
November. Its role is to promote an intensive dialogue with all stakeholders. For many years 
Nanogate has also been active in various international research programmes, including NanoSus-
tain (sustainability assessment of the entire lifecycle of nanotechnologically enhanced products, 
launched in 2010) and Nanosafe (safe handling of nanomaterials, concluded in 2009). In line 
with its own ambitious aspirations, the Group follows the goal of setting uniformly high quality 
and safety standards for the entire sector and permanently seeking dialogue with the public in 
terms of the opportunities and risks of nanotechnology.

  Beyond its commitments for the industry, the company is also constantly expanding its product 
portfolio of sustainable systems. As many applications as possible should contribute to minimis-
ing the use of dangerous substances or reducing consumption of natural resources. For this 
reason, all the systems that contribute to environmental protection or to a conservative, sustain-
able use of raw materials are distributed under the Green Nano brand. 

  The company’s management sees considerable potential here, especially in the field of energy 
efficiency. The Group now receives external funding for its projects in this area: Deutsche 
Bundesstiftung Umwelt (DBU) is providing a medium six-figure sum for the development of new 
energy-efficient fine-particle filters. In addition, Nanogate and BASF provide support to Oeko-
Institut for its recently developed instrument for evaluating nanoproducts. The Nano-Sustainabil-
ity Check acts as an analysis matrix to identify environmental benefits and issues as well as risks 
and challenges of products and nanomaterials. One case study was a UV protective coating for 
glass, which saves resources in comparison with conventional products because the protective 
effect of the UV filter lasts longer. The Nano-Sustainability Check was funded by the German 
Federal Environment Agency and the German Federal Ministry for the Environment.

  The Group also takes part in social and political debates, calling for a confiding dialogue between 
companies and all their stakeholders. For example, Nanogate CEO Ralf Zastrau is involved with 
the Bertelsmann Stiftung in the initiatives “Companies for the Region” and “Saarland – a 
responsible partner”.
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2. Opportunities and risks for future development

2.1.  Risk report

 2.1.1. Risk management
   In order to grow profitably, Nanogate takes appropriate, reasonable and manageable risks. 

The higher the potential rewards associated with the risk and the more likely it is to result 
in an appropriate increase in the value of the company, the greater the acceptance of that 
risk. All in all, the aggregate extent of the risks entered into may not exceed the risk 
coverage potential at Nanogate. No transactions of a speculative nature are entered into. 
The Nanogate Group’s risk management is an inseparable part of its value-based manage-
ment philosophy and is integrated into the Group’s management systems. Within the 
Group, the company identifies risks for all material business transactions and processes. 
The risk situation that can be influenced by the Group has not changed materially since the 
previous year. The risks explained below are those that are currently identified. The 
existence of further risks which have not been identified by the Management Board, or the 
likelihood of whose occurrence is estimated to be negligible, cannot be ruled out.

   Nanogate’s Management Board is confident that the following risks do not endanger the 
continued existence of the company either individually or collectively. The market and 
financing risks described here are limited and manageable. External factors, for instance the 
effects of the financial and economic crisis, or natural disasters, are naturally beyond 
Nanogate’s control.

 2.1.2.  Risks in Nanogate’s ordinary business operations
   General economic risks: Demand for high-performance surfaces and nanotechnology 

products and services in Germany is dependent to some extent on the general economic 
conditions. Companies’ willingness to invest might be adversely affected by a slowdown in 
domestic demand. In the light of this fact, the possibility of demand for nanotechnology 
declining to a low level and of investment in new projects “drying up” or being postponed 
cannot be ruled out. The Group minimises the risk of rising raw materials prices both by 
increasing its prices to customers and by making use of economies of scale to achieve 
efficiency gains in the production process.

   Market risks: The attractive growth markets of nanotechnology and high-performance 
surfaces could entice competitors with a variety of core competencies, such as particle 
manufacturers, special chemicals companies and producers of end products to enter the 
market. This could lead to greater competition. It is possible that the Nanogate Group 
might not succeed in convincing customers of the value and benefits of its solutions. This 
could have an effect on sales and earnings. Neither can it be ruled out that a tightening of 
regulatory requirements at European level might mean that it would no longer be economi-
cally attractive for particular suppliers to produce individual source materials. For example, 
REACH (Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation of Chemicals) is a new EU regulation 
governing chemical substances that has applied since July 2007. It is designed to harmonise 
the previous chemicals legislation in the European Union and can have an impact on 
procurement and sales markets. It can also not be excluded that suppliers may no longer 
supply certain precursors in good time. If the Nanogate Group is unable to find alternative 
solutions in the event of supply shortages or regulatory changes this could have adverse 
effects on its business performance. Certain products could no longer be manufactured for 
example, or additional costs could be incurred in procuring alternatives. At the same time, 
there is a risk that acceptance of nanotechnology in general will be insufficient.
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   Default risks: The Group’s customer structure is not yet sufficiently diversified, which 
means that it is dependent on specific sector trends or on individual customers. The 
company’s strong growth should continue to improve its diversification in terms of 
customers and regions. In the financial year 2011, Nanogate generated about 75 % of sales 
with its 40 largest customers. Sales fluctuations due to economic developments in 
individual markets can also not be ruled out.

   Risks from cooperation agreements: Nanogate generates a considerable proportion of its 
sales from its existing customer base and from cooperation agreements. If existing 
customers or cooperation partners decide not to extend their contracts or to reduce the 
length or scope of the contracts, the Group’s operating result could be affected. At the same 
time, there is a risk of cooperation partners not achieving the agreed sales figures.

   Product risks: Since 2000 the company has been one of the first nanotechnology firms 
worldwide to be certified in quality management in accordance with ISO DIN 9001. Since 
2007 active environmental management has also been practised in line with the high 
standards of ISO DIN 14001:2004. Both audits were again completed successfully in 
January 2011. All products were tested and approved by well-known independent 
institutes such as Fraunhofer Gesellschaft and TÜV. Furthermore, the company welcomes, 
supports and actively assists in steps to further clarify potential risks and to improve 
transparency about nanotechnology. The nanomaterials used at Nanogate are processed in 
liquid form, are always embedded in what is known as a binder matrix, and are applied in 
practice as a hardened surface coating. All the investigations currently available worldwide 
confirm unequivocally that based on current findings, nanomaterials permanently 
embedded in a matrix (comparable to a paint or lacquer) throughout their lifecycle do not 
constitute a danger to people or the environment. At the same time, however, the 
possibility of an application triggering unknown faults or defects that result in costs, 
general impairments or damage to the company’s image cannot be ruled out. Damages 
claims from end customers or business partners in connection with this cannot be excluded 
entirely from the Group’s considerations, particularly since in certain cases, Nanogate also 
launches, promotes and sells the products on the market itself. The Group has appropriate 
product liability insurance for such cases.

   Financial risks: The receivables portfolio can involve risks relating to the recoverability of 
receivables in individual regions or subsidiaries. Nanogate counters this risk across the 
Group by implementing strict receivables management.

   Employee risks: The availability of highly qualified employees with high levels of technical 
expertise is an important success factor for Nanogate. Nanogate strives to uphold its 
reputation as an attractive employer in order to safeguard and strengthen these factors. By 
committing itself to recognising technical and managerial potential, Nanogate seeks to 
secure the long-term loyalty of specialist and management staff.

   Investment risks: Nanogate is currently investing heavily in the development of new 
technology platforms and additional products, as well as in opening up new markets and in 
new portfolio companies. Funds are only committed when the marketing opportunities are 
sufficient or when business plans of portfolio companies have been reviewed for the 
probability of their success and potential profitability. The possibility that product and 
technology developments or portfolio companies might not reach their target figures in 
terms of sales and earnings cannot be ruled out, however. At the same time, it might prove 
necessary to increase investment at short notice to reach set targets, leading to temporary 
impairments of profitability as a result of the initial costs incurred.
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	 	Business	at	the	equity	holding	HOLMENKOL	AG	has	been	undergoing	restructuring	since	
2010. Further steps and financing measures are still necessary to bring the restructuring to a 
successful conclusion. This gives rise to considerable financing and investment risks. Nanogate’s 
preferred solution of integrating the company was not implemented. In December 2011 the 
Group therefore decided to turn its majority investment into a minority investment. This step has 
already reduced the risks for Nanogate. Since December 2011 Holmenkol has no longer been 
fully consolidated in the financial statements and the equity interest has been presented retroac-
tively from January 2011 under discontinued operations. Taking the existing risks into account, 
Nanogate also decided to write off the investment, loans and receivables in full based on a fair 
value measurement. (See also the Notes, section A. 2., “Companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements”, page 42, and “Discontinued operations”, page 43.)

 2.1.3.  Opportunities for future development
   Nanotechnology is a cross-sectional technology that is used in many sectors and as such is 

considered to have significant potential. Nanostructures, nanomaterials and high-perfor-
mance surfaces enable numerous benefits for companies and for private and commercial 
users: existing products are enhanced, production is made more efficient and cheaper or 
the use of resources is reduced.

   Nanogate estimates the total future market for high-performance surfaces in Europe at 
around EUR 2.9 billion. The Group is concentrating on the highest-margin segments of 
that market with a future sales potential of around EUR 800 million. The segments 
primarily addressed by Nanogate include the field of energy efficiency coatings and 
multifunctional transparent coatings as well as inkjet coatings. Observers are also expecting 
demand to rise steeply for solutions and systems from nanotechnology companies. In 
November 2011 the experts from Future Markets predicted that in a best-case scenario the 
global market volume for nanosurfaces could increase from some USD 1.6 billion at 
present to around USD 7.8 billion by 2017.

   In view of the industry’s rising demand for complete systems and one-stop shopping, 
Nanogate sees considerable growth opportunities in the market for high-performance 
surfaces. As a leading international integrated systems provider the Group has many years 
of wide-ranging experience and know-how in developing materials as well as in integrating 
processes and production. At the same time, the Group covers the entire value chain from 
material development to mass production. 

   Thanks to its positioning as an integrated systems provider, management expects the Group 
to be able to grow faster than the market for surfaces. Sales potential exists in particular in 
the growing application areas automotive and mechanical engineering, building, interiors, 
sport/leisure and functional textiles. The company especially sees opportunities in the 
market for plastic surfaces in high optical quality, for which the Group has a proprietary 
inkjet coating technology that is unique in Europe. The orders received last year, especially 
from the automotive industry, are confirmation that the company is on the right track. The 
field of energy efficiency is also expected to boost sales and earnings.
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3. Events after the balance sheet date

Nanogate is stepping up its activities in the growing market for functional textiles and care products. 
The company has pooled these operations at Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH to enable the 
firm to capitalise better on the opportunities in this field. This step was taken with retrospective 
effect as of 1 January 2012.

Nanogate is expanding its Management Board with effect from 1 May 2012. The company’s 
Supervisory Board appointed Daniel Seibert (43) as Chief Financial Officer (CFO). He will assume 
responsibility for finance and controlling, as well as other duties. The rest of the Management Board 
remains unchanged, with the company’s co-founder Ralf Zastrau as CEO and Michael Jung as 
COO. In addition to this, Nanogate AG is establishing an Executive Committee, which will consist 
of the Management Board plus the CEOs of the two strategic equity holdings GfO AG and Eurogard 
B.V., Gerd Leichner and Anthony Lucassen. By doing this, the company intends to drive the Group’s 
integration forwards and increase its market power.

4. Forecast

The economic cycle is expected to continue smoothly in 2012, although at a slower pace. The Interna-
tional Monetary Fund (IMF) is expecting global economic growth of 3.3 % (as of January 2012). 
Germany is forecast to expand by 0.3 % and the USA by 1.8 %. The IMF predicts that the economy in 
the euro area will contract by 0.5 %. Nanogate is cautiously optimistic for the future about the sectors 
that are most important to the company: consumer spending in Germany is set to rise by 1.0 % 
according	to	GfK.	The	German	chemical	industry	projects	production	growth	of	1	%.	The	trade	
association VDA is expecting stable sales in Germany and global growth of 4 % for the car industry. 
For its industry the engineering association VDMA is only forecasting zero growth, however.

In 2012 Nanogate will profit from last year’s expansion. Earnings should grow faster than sales. Firstly, 
the Group will benefit from the strong order base and new projects launched last year for BMW, 
Chrysler, Land Rover and others. Second, demand remains high: the marketing of new efficiency 
coatings started in March 2012 for example. They are part of Nanogate’s bid to open up the volume 
market for energy efficiency, concentrating initially on the market for innovative heating systems. 
Thirdly, the Group expects its expansion in terms of sales base, product and technology portfolio and 
opening up new markets to deliver additional orders. This applies above all to the fields of energy 
efficiency and plastics, which offer particularly rich potential. Based on these growth drivers the Group 
intends to pursue its double-digit growth course with a sales increase of at least 10 % (compared with 
sales revenue of some EUR 33.2 million in 2011). In the current year the focus is on opening up new 
markets, furthering the integration process and expanding capacities. Adjusted EBITDA should go up 
by at least 30 %. The Group is therefore expecting the adjusted EBITDA margin to rise to at least 
15 %, compared with 12.7 % for 2011. The earnings improvement will come primarily from higher 
capacity utilisation and an improved product mix. In addition, the investment in Holmenkol AG will 
no longer put pressure on the operating result. Cash flow from operating activities should improve 
again and the Group’s capital base will be strengthened. With this forecast performance and improved 
profitability the Group aims to be in a position to pay a dividend from the current year.

This year Nanogate is concentrating on its further strategic development, with a focus on opening up 
international markets. The aim is to expand Nanogate’s presence in key foreign markets – including 
those outside Europe. This applies both to sales and to the production of high-performance surfaces. 
Concepts for the next development stage are currently in preparation and potential options are under 
review. In parallel, Nanogate will make use of external growth again in future, now that the two new 
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portfolio companies GfO AG and Eurogard B.V. have been integrated. Internal processes will also be 
made even more optimal. This includes strengthening the senior management team with the addition 
of a Chief Financial Officer. By creating an Executive Committee as an extended management board 
the company intends to improve cooperation between the holding company, which is responsible for 
central material development and production, and the operating units.

In the medium term, Nanogate wants to generate sales of at least EUR 50 million and achieve a 
sustainable EBITDA margin of over 20 %. On its way there the Group has reached a number of key 
milestones and laid the foundations for further profitable growth. As the leading international 
integrated systems provider for high-performance surfaces Nanogate has a better position than virtually 
any other supplier on this attractive market.

Quierschied-Göttelborn, 20 April 2012

Ralf Zastrau  Michael Jung
Chairman of the Management Board/CEO Member of the Management Board/COO
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Consolidated income statement of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2011

Notes
2011 2010

EUR ,000  EUR ,000 
Sales 3 33,244 15,433
Increase in finished goods and work in progress 25 -36
Other own work capitalised 4 1,085 2,164
Other operating income 5 675 5,108
Cost of materials 6 -12,978 -7,560
Personnel expenses 7 -12,188 -6,082
Other operating expenses 8 -6,370 -3,935
EBITDA 3,493 5,092
Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation  
of property, plant and equipment 9 -2,502 -4,292
EBIT 991 800
Financial income 10 87 131
Financial expenses 11 -1,389 -611
Result from investments accounted for using the equity method 12 - -
Earnings before taxes -311 320
Income taxes 13 -140 1,691
Net income/loss after taxes from continuing operations -451 2,011
Net income/loss after taxes from discontinued operations 14 -2,911 -969
Net income/loss attributable to non-controlling interests 15 -267 414
Net income/loss attributable to equity providers  
(consolidated net income/loss) -3,629 1,456

Earnings per share (EUR) 16
Earnings per share (basic) -1.68 0.76

of which from continuing operations -0.49 1.27
of which from discontinued operations -1.20 -0.51

Earnings per share (diluted) -1.67 0.76
of which from continuing operations -0.48 1.27
of which from discontinued operations -1.19 -0.51

Weighted average no-par-value bearer shares 
Basic 2,165,531 1,905,000
Diluted 2,172,078 1,910,558
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2011

Notes
2011 2010

EUR ,000   EUR ,000  
Net income/loss after taxes -3,362 1,042

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 15 267 -414
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG -3,629 1,456

Changes in the amount recognised in equity from
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment - 603
Cash flow hedges - -
Financial assets available for sale - -
Actuarial gains and losses from defined-benefit 
pension commitments and similar obligations

 
-

 
-

Foreign currency translation - -
Other changes in value recognised in equity - -
Total changes in value recognised in equity - 603

of which attributable to non-controlling interests - 295
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG - 308

Total of net income/loss after taxes and 
changes in value recognised in equity -3,362 1,645

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 267 -119
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG -3,629 1,764
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Consolidated statement of financial position of Nanogate AG

as at 31 December 2011

Assets Notes
31.12.2011 31.12.2010
EUR ,000    EUR ,000   

Non-current assets  

Intangible assets 17 18,592 17,884
Property, plant and equipment 18 17,172 16,936
Investments accounted for using the equity method 12 - -
Trade receivables 22 10 -
Financial assets 19 1,065 1,323
Other assets 19 25
Deferred tax assets 20 4,089 5,585

40,947 41,753
Current assets  

Inventories 21 1,917 3,294
Trade receivables 22 3,776 4,372
Financial assets 23 85 55
Other assets 24 636 473
Income tax receivables 25 7
Cash and cash equivalents 25 8,957 4,067

15,396 12,268
56,343 54,021

Equity and liabilities Notes
31.12.2011 31.12.2010
EUR ,000    EUR ,000   

Equity 26 

Subscribed capital 2,478 1,905
Capital reserves  12,468 14,827
Retained earnings 1,649 1,649
Consolidated balance sheet result 9,336 2,688
Non-controlling interests  2,139 2,958

 28,070 24,027
Non-current liabilities
Pension provisions 27 754 744
Provisions 28 313 348
Financial liabilities 29 13,192 8,961
Trade payables 30 - 28
Other financial liabilities 31 1,005 2,965
Other liabilities 32 583 686
Deferred tax liabilities 33 4,035 5,440

19,882 19,172
Current liabilities
Provisions 28 948 484
Financial liabilities 29 2,320 4,243
Trade payables 30 1,868 3,014
Other financial liabilities 31 841 2,503
Income tax liabilities 612 132
Other liabilities 32 1,802 446

8,391 10,822
56,343 54,021
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Consolidated statement of cash flows of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2011

Notes
2011 2010

EUR ,000  EUR ,000 
Earnings before taxes  -311 320
Depreciation/amortisation of non-current assets 2,502 4,240
Increase in provisions 542 347
Profit/loss from the disposal of non-current assets 83 -27
Other non-cash income and expenses 105 -4,283
Increase in inventories, trade receivables and other assets 

that cannot be allocated to investing or financing 
activities -1,963 -1,101

Increase/decrease in trade payables and other equity and 
liabilities that cannot be allocated to investing or 
financing activities 2,289 -149

Subtotal 3,247 -653
Income tax payments -292 27
Cash flow from operating activities from 

continuing operations 2,955 -626
Cash flow from operating activities from

discontinued operations 1,009 -222
Cash flow from operating activities 3,964 -848
Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment -633 -556
Payments for investments in intangible assets -1,006 -2,145
Payments for investments in financial assets -100 -250
Payments from the acquisition of consolidated companies -9,960 542
Cash flow from investing activities from 

continuing operations -11,699 -2,409
Cash flow from investing activities from 

discontinued operations -316 -536
Cash flow from investing activities -12,015 -2,945
Shareholder payments from capital increases 8,025 -
Proceeds from the raising of loans 16,985 2,401
Payments from the redemption of loans -11,114 -1,241
Cash flow from financing activities from 

continuing operations 13,896 1,160
Cash flow from financing activities from

discontinued operations -777 794
Cash flow from financing activities 13,119 1,954
Change in cash and cash equivalents from

continuing operations 5,152 -1,839
Change in cash and cash equivalents from

 from discontinued operations -84 -
Changes in cash and cash equivalents caused by changes 

in the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements -178 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 4,067 5,906
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 25 8,957 4,067

Interest income payments1) 11 24 27

Interest expense payments1) 12 -767 -249

Dividends paid/received - -

1) from continuing operations
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2011

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Consolidated 
balance sheet 

result

Parent 
company 
interests

Non-control-
ling interests

Consolidated 
equity

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 
As at 31.12.2009 1,900 14,703 1,331 1,242 19,176 1,908 21,084

Capital increase by issuance 
of new shares 
(registered on 27.4.2010) 5 - - - 5 - 5

Premium (agio) - 88 - - 88 - 88

Changes from
Group company changes 
Acquisition of shares, transfer 
to minority shareholders - - - - - 1,173 1,173

Added to revaluation reserve - - 308 - 308 295 603

Transfer to retained earnings, 
Section 150 (2) AktG - - 10 -10 - - -

Changes in equity recognised 
without effect on profit or loss - -10 - - -10 - -10

Share options granted - 46 - - 46 -4 42

Consolidated net income/loss 2010 - - - 1,456 1,456 -414 1,042

As at 31.12.2010 1,905 14,827 1,649 2,688 21,069 2,958 24,027

Capital increases by issuance 
of new shares 573 7,888 - - 8,461 - 8,461

Change in Group companies / 
companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements
Disposal of minority interest 
due to change of status - - - - - -1,086 -1,086

Transfer from capital reserves 
to offset losses - -10,277 - 10,277 - - -

Share options granted - 30 - - 30 - 30

Consolidated net income/loss 2011 - - - -3,629 -3,629 267 -3,362

As at 31.12.2011 2,478 12,468 1,649 9,336 25,931 2,139 28,070
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Consolidated statement of assets of Nanogate AG

(Appendix 1 to the Notes)

Consolidated statement of assets 2011 Acquisition and production costs

As at
1.1.2011

Change in 
the 

companies 
included in 

the 
consoli-
dated 

financial 
statements

Additions Transfers Disposals As at
31.12.2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000  
I. Intangible assets

1.   Software, licences, trademarks  
and patents 6,821 -3,151 38 - 12 3,696

2.  Client base 2,566 - - - - 2,566

3.  Development costs 8,684 -1,423 1,311 - 2,426 6,146

4.  Goodwill 5,599 4,060 - - 1,968 7,691

5.  Leased assets - - 91 - - 91

23,670 -514 1,440 - 4,406 20,190
II. Property, plant and equipment

1.   Land, equivalent rights and buildings, 
including buildings on third-party 
land 9,623 -240 - - - 9,383

2.  Technical equipment and machinery 5,377 3,060 80 405 3 8,919

3.   Other equipment, office and plant 
equipment 2,467 -605 115 - 40 1,937

4.  Leased assets 2,306 -1,503 38 - - 841

5. Payments on account 201 67 408 -405 94 177

19,974 779 641 - 137 21,257

43,644 265 2,081 - 4,543 41,447
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Depreciation/amortisation
Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

As at 
1.1.2011

Change in 
the 

companies 
included in 

the 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

Depreciation and 
amortisation in the 

financial year

Transfers Disposals As at 
31.12.2011 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Continuing
Discontin-

ued

operations

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000  

415 -264 123 63 - 12 325 3,371 6,406

- - 342 - - - 342 2,224 2,566

2,883 -501 204 172 - 2,424 334 5,812 5,801

2,488 - 67 - - 1,968 587 7,104 3,111

- - 10 - - - 10 81 -

5,786 -765 746 235 - 4,404 1,598 18,592 17,884

287 -69 394 13 - - 625 8,758 9,336

1,051 -69 975 9 - 2 1,964 6,955 4,326

1,411 -361 229 53 - 40 1,292 645 1,056

289 -288 119 45 - - 165 676 2,017

- - 39 - - - 39 138 201

3,038 -787 1,756 120 - 42 4,085 17,172 16,936

8,824 -1,552 2,502 355 - 4,446 5,683 35,764 34,820
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Consolidated statement of assets of Nanogate AG

(appendix to the notes)

Consolidated statement of assets 2010 Acquisition and production costs

As at
1.1.2010

Change in 
the 

companies 
included in 

the 
consoli-
dated 

financial 
statements

Additions Transfers Disposals As at
31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000  
I. Intangible assets

1.   Software, licences, trademarks  
and patents 3,503 2,984 341 46 53 6,821

2.  Client base - 2,566 - - - 2,566

3.  Development costs 6,242 - 2,442 - - 8,684

4.  Goodwill 5,599 - - - - 5,599

5.  Payments on account 9 - - -9 - -

15,353 5,550 2,783 37 53 23,670
II. Property, plant and equipment

1.   Land, equivalent rights and buildings, 
including buildings on third-party 
land 1,335 7,443 846 - 2 9,623

2.  Technical equipment and machinery 1,936 2,694 399 373 25 5,377

3.   Other equipment, office and plant 
equipment 2,162 89 83 163 30 2,467

4.  Leased assets 1,503 803 - - - 2,306

5. Payments on account 305 198 99 -401 - 201

7,241 11,227 1,427 135 57 19,974

22,594 16,777 4,210 172 110 43,644
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Depreciation/amortisation
Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

As at 
1.1.2010

Change in 
the 

companies 
included in 

the 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

Depreciation and 
amortisation in the 

financial year

Transfers Disposals As at 
31.12.2010 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

Continuing
Discontin-

ued

operations

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000  

335 - 48 59 - 27 415 6,406 3,168

- - - - - - - 2,566 -

335 - 2,360 188 - - 2,883 5,801 5,907

1,606 - 882 - - - 2,488 3,111 3,993

- - - - - - - - 9

2,276 - 3,290 247 - 27 5,786 17,884 13,077

109 - 163 15 - - 287 9,336 1,226

500 - 566 10 - 25 1,051 4,326 1,436

1,154 - 226 61 - 30 1,411 1,056 1,008

186 - 47 56 - - 289 2,017 1,317

- - - - - - - 201 305

1,949 - 1,002 142 - 55 3,038 16,936 5,292

4,225 - 4,292 389 - 82 8,824 34,820 18,369

Consolidated statement of assets 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2011

A. Principles of the consolidated financial statements

General information

The consolidated financial statements for Nanogate AG as of 31 December 
2011 have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) drawn up by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) in London and the interpretations of the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) in effect 
on the reporting date and endorsed by the European Union (EU).

Nanogate AG is registered in Germany at Zum Schacht 3, 66287 
Quierschied-Göttelborn. Nanogate AG’s shares are included in open 
market trading and in the Entry Standard segment of such trading on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The object of Nanogate AG as specified in its articles of association is, in 
particular, the development, production and selling of chemical products; 
the enhancement, sale and/or contract processing of prefabricated and/
or semi-finished products; the provision of advice and material engineer-
ing services in the above areas; and the administration and licensing of 
trademark rights and/or expertise. 

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ending on 
31 December 2011 in accordance with IFRS as applicable in the EU are 
solely intended for public information. They were approved for publica-
tion by a resolution of the Management Board on 20 April 2012. 

The consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in euros. 
Unless otherwise specified, all amounts are in thousands of euros 
(EUR ,000).

1. Legal principles of presentation

Nanogate AG’s listing in the Entry Standard segment of the German 
Stock Exchange in Frankfurt obliges the company to publish audited 
consolidated financial statements, including a Group management report, 
in accordance with either the prevailing national accounting standards or 
International Financial Reporting Standards, no later than six months 
after the reporting period ends. The Management Board of Nanogate AG 
has resolved to prepare the consolidated financial statements solely in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
 
The accounting and measurement methods used in the consolidated 
financial statements comply with the mandatory standards and interpreta-
tions applicable as of 31 December 2011. The standards and interpreta-
tions applicable for the first time in 2011 had no significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements or on earnings per share for the current 
and previous financial year.

Standard or interpretation Endorsement Mandatory 
from 

financial 
years 

beginning 

IAS 1 Amendments to IAS 1 in the course of annual 

improvements

yes 1.1.2011

IAS 24 Amendments to: Related Party Disclosures yes 1.1.2011

IAS 27 Amendments to: Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements in the course of annual 

improvements

yes 1.7.2010

IAS 32 Amendments to: Classification of Rights Issues yes 1.2.2010

IAS 34 Amendments to IAS 34 in the course of annual 

improvements

yes 1.1.2011

Standard or interpretation Endorsement Mandatory 
from 

financial 
years 

beginning 

IFRS 1 Amendments to: Exemptions from Comparative 

IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters

yes 1.7.2010

IFRS 1 Amendments to IFRS 1 in the course of annual 

improvements

yes 1.1.2011

IFRS 3 Amendments to IFRS 3 in the course of annual 

improvements

yes 1.7.2010

IFRS 7 Amendments to: Improved Disclosures on 

Financial Instruments

yes 1.1.2011

IFRS 7*) Amendments to: Improved Disclosures on 

Transfers of Financial Assets

yes 1.7.2011

IFRS 7 Amendments to IFRS 7 in the course of annual 

improvements

yes 1.1.2011

IFRIC 13 Amendments to IFRIC 13 in the course of 

annual improvements

yes 1.1.2011

IFRIC 14 Amendments to: Prepayments of a Minimum 

Funding Requirement

yes 1.1.2011

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 

Instruments 

yes 1.7.2010

Based on: Endorsement Status Report dated 16 February 2012  

*) Voluntary early application for financial statements as of 31.12.2011 – option was not exercised

The amendments to IAS 24 revised the definition of a related party and 
also established an exception for defined disclosures for companies under 
the control, joint control or significant influence of a public-sector body.

Following the amendments to IAS 32, rights, options and subscription 
rights can be treated as equity instruments, subject to meeting the other 
criteria for equity instruments, if they give the right to receive a defined 
number of non-derivative equity instruments of the issuing entity in 
exchange for a fixed amount defined in any currency.
 
IFRS 1 was amended in order to exempt first-time adopters of IFRS from 
the additional disclosure obligations resulting from IFRS 7 on improved 
disclosures for financial instruments. These amendments enable first-time 
adopters to make use of the same transitional provisions as apply to 
companies that already prepare their accounts according to IFRS. 

The amendments to IFRS 7 expand the scope of disclosures on transac-
tions involving the transfer of financial assets. The amendments are 
intended to make risk exposure more transparent in cases where financial 
instruments are being transferred but the transferring party remains 
exposed to a certain degree of risk from the financial assets.

IFRIC 14 gives general guidelines for determining the upper limit of a 
pension fund surplus that can be recognised as an asset in accordance 
with IAS 19. The amendments now allow the recognition of an asset in 
the form of a prepaid minimum funding requirement.

IFRIC 19 deals with accounting for extinguishing financial liabilities by 
means of equity instruments. According to IFRIC 19 the equity 
instrument is measured at fair value and any difference between this and 
the carrying amount of the extinguished financial liability is recognised 
in the income statement.

In addition to the changes described above, amendments were also made 
to IFRS as part of the annual improvement process.
 
The following standards and interpretations which had already been 
published by the IASB but did not become mandatory until after 
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31 December 2011 were not applied in advance by the company on a 
voluntary basis. 

Standard or interpretation Endorsement Mandatory 
from 

financial 
years 

beginning 
IAS 1 Amendments to: Presentation of Items of Other 

Comprehensive Income

Planned for 

Q1 2012

2013

IAS 12 Amendment to: Deferred taxes: Recovery of 

Underlying Assets

Planned for 

Q2 2012

2012

IAS 19 Amendment to: Employee Benefits Planned for 

Q1 2012

2013

IAS 27 

(2011)

Separate Financial Statements Planned for 

Q3 2012

2013

IAS 28 

(2011)

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures Planned for 

Q3 2012

2013

IAS 32 Amendment to: Offsetting Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities

Planned for 

Q3 2012

2014

IFRS 1 Amendments to: Severe Hyperinflation and 

Removal of Fixed Dates

Planned for 

Q2 2012

2012

IFRS 7 Amendments to: Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures

22.11.2011 2012

IFRS 7 Amendment to: Disclosures: Offsetting Financial 

Assets and Financial Liabilities

Planned for 

Q3 2012

2013

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Postponed 2015
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements Planned for 

Q3 2012

2013

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements Planned for 

Q3 2012

2013

IFRS 12 Disclosures on Interests in Other Entities Planned for 

Q3 2012

2013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement Planned for 

Q3 2012

2013

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 

Surface Mine

Planned for 

Q2 2012

2013

Based on: Endorsement Status Report dated 16 February 2012  

The amendments to IAS 19 do away with the corridor method. All 
changes in defined benefit obligations and in plan assets are therefore to 
be recognised directly in profit or loss in the future. At the same time all 
actuarial gains and losses are to be recognised directly in other compre-
hensive income. The amendments also result in a new format for 
presenting defined benefit obligations and plan assets as well as new and 
revised disclosures. The changes to IAS 19 are applicable at the latest to 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013. This is not expected 
to have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of 
Nanogate AG.
 
The amendments to IFRS 9 adopted in 2009 include new rules for 
classifying and measuring financial assets. Other new rules for classifying 
and measuring financial liabilities were published in November 2010. All 
recognised financial assets falling within the scope of IAS 39 are held 
either at amortised cost or at fair value. All equity instruments covered by 
IFRS 9 must be held in the balance sheet at fair value.

In contrast to IAS 39, IFRS 9 has no obligation to separate embedded 
derivatives from financial assets. Application of the standard is mandatory 
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2015. This is not 
expected to have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of 
Nanogate AG.

IFRS 10 replaces the rules on consolidated financial statements in IAS 27 
and establishes the principle of control as a uniform approach. According 
to IFRS 10, control depends on all the following three criteria being met: 

(a) a company must have power over the investee; (b) it must have 
exposure or rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee 
and (c) the ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of 
these returns. This is not expected to have an impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of Nanogate AG.

IFRS 12 combines disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint ventures, 
associated companies and/or non-consolidated structured entities in a 
comprehensive standard. Many of these disclosures have been taken from 
IAS 27, IAS 31 or IAS 28, whereas others have been added for the first 
time. This is not expected to have an impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of Nanogate AG.

IFRS 13 introduces a comprehensive framework for measuring the fair 
value of financial and non-financial items. The standard defines the 
concept of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and 
requires a number of disclosures concerning the measurement of fair 
value. IFRS 13 is applicable to financial years beginning on or after 1 
January 2013. This is not expected to have any significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of Nanogate AG.

2. Accounting and measurement principles

General principles

On the whole, the same accounting and measurement methods as those 
used to ascertain the comparable figures for the previous year in the 
consolidated financial statements to 31 December 2010 were used to 
prepare the consolidated financial statements to 31 December 2011.
 
Exceptions are the amendments to international IFRS accounting described 
under point 1 above which the Group is required to apply from 1 January 
2011. In the 2011 financial year there was another exception relating to the 
presentation of amortisation on financial assets. In 2011 these were 
presented for the first time below EBIT and in financial expenses. To enable 
comparison with the previous year’s figures the income statement for the 
previous year was also rearranged to show financial expenses.

The separate financial statements of Nanogate AG and those of its 
domestic and foreign subsidiaries have been prepared on the basis of 
uniform accounting and measurement principles. 

IAS 1 stipulates that in balance sheet presentation, a distinction is made 
between non-current and current assets and between non-current and 
current liabilities. Assets, liabilities and provisions are regarded as current 
when they can be realised, or fall due, within one year. The income 
statement was prepared using the total cost method. In cases where the 
balance sheet and income statement items are combined to improve the 
clarity of presentation, they are reported separately in the Notes. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of 
historical cost, with the exception of the revaluation of certain non-cur-
rent assets at one subsidiary. The most important accounting and 
measurement methods are explained below.

Consolidation principles

In addition to the parent company, the consolidated financial statements 
include all the subsidiaries in which the company exercises the majority of 
the voting rights or control either directly or indirectly if their influence 
on the assets, financial and earnings position of the Group is of material 
significance.



42

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The reporting date for Nanogate AG and the subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements is 31 December 2011. 

If required, the annual financial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted 
for the accounting and measurement methods applied in the Group.

The capital consolidation is carried out using the purchase method. This 
involves setting off the acquisition costs of the acquired shares against the 
revalued pro rata equity attributable to the parent company. In the 
process, the assets, liabilities and contingencies of the acquired equity 
holding must be stated at their respective fair values. Any remaining 
positive difference must be reported as an asset, recognised at cost as at 
the acquisition date and subjected to an annual impairment test; any 
remaining negative difference is recorded immediately in profit and loss in 
the consolidated financial statements after the measurements have been 
checked again.
 
Receivables, liabilities and provisions, income and expenses, as well as 
intermediate intra-Group gains and losses are eliminated within the 
framework of debt consolidation or expense and earnings consolidation.

Minority interests in the equity and in the results of the subsidiaries are 
shown under non-controlling interests. The minority interests consist of 
the amount of such interests on the date of the original business 
combination and the minority interest in the change in equity as from the 
time of the business combination.

Group companies and companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements

Group companies

In addition to Nanogate AG as parent company, the following companies 
belong to the Group as per 31 December 2011:

Share of 

capital

Equity Net income/

loss

Consoli-

dation

% EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH,

Quierschied-Göttelborn 100.00 7,156 381 full

GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik 

AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd 51.00

 

5,482

 

1,225

 

full

Eurogard B.V., Geldrop/Netherlands1) 100.00 4,519 1,759 full

FNP GmbH (to become Nanogate

Textile & Care Systems GmbH), 

Quierschied-Göttelborn

100.00 26 -510 ./.

HOLMENKOL	AG,	Ditzingen	2) 50.00 4,476 -880 equity 

method

1) Consolidated from 1 July 2011; recognised net income attributable to the calendar year 2011

2)  Interest in share capital 50 % less one share; associated company from 1.12.2011; equity and 

net loss from preliminary financial statements as of 31.12.2011

Companies included in the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttel-
born, as of 31 December 2011 include, in addition to the parent company, 
Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, GfO 
Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd, and 
Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands, by way of full consolidation. 
Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn, holds 100 % of the voting rights in 
Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH and in Eurogard B.V. Nanogate holds 
an equity interest of 51 % in GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG. 
Nanogate	AG	also	holds	50	%	less	one	share	in	HOLMENKOL	AG.	As	

Nanogate	AG	relinquished	control	of	HOLMENKOL	AG	in	the	financial	
year 2011, this equity holding is shown in the consolidated financial 
statements for Nanogate AG as an associated company.

Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, was 
consolidated for the first time as at the balance sheet date 31 December 
2006. The date on which capital was offset for the first-time consolidation 
of this subsidiary was 1 January 2006. The equity interest in Nanogate 
Industrial Solutions GmbH was increased from 55.5 % to 100.0 % in the 
course of the 2008 financial year.

Nanogate AG acquired a 51.0 % stake in GfO Gesellschaft für Ober-
flächentechnik AG (GfO AG for short) in Schwäbisch Gmünd as part of a 
larger transaction. The purchase was completed in several stages. The final 
tranche of the entire transaction was completed in 2011 as part of an equity 
increase for subscription in kind, in connection with authorised capital. As 
from 1 September 2010, Nanogate AG had a controlling influence over 
GfO AG. The date on which capital was offset for the first-time consolida-
tion of this subsidiary was therefore 1 September 2010. As part of the larger 
transaction, it was also agreed that Nanogate AG could acquire a further 
49.0 % of the shares in GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, 
Schwäbisch Gmünd, via a call option. Conditions precedent were agreed for 
the purchase.

In June 2011 Nanogate AG acquired 100 % of the shares in Eurogard B.V., 
Geldrop, the Netherlands. The date on which capital was offset for the 
first-time consolidation of this subsidiary was 1 July 2011. Offsetting the 
capital for the newly acquired shares gave rise to a positive difference of 
EUR 5,443,000, which was recognised in the consolidated balance sheet.

As of 1 September 2008 Nanogate AG had a controlling influence over 
HOLMENKOL	AG.	The	subsidiary	was	therefore	included	in	the	
consolidated financial statements by way of full consolidation as from 
1	September	2008.	HOLMENKOL	Austria	Ges.m.b.H.,	Lauterach,	Austria,	
was also previously fully consolidated as a wholly owned subsidiary of 
HOLMENKOL	AG.	As	of	30	November	2011	Nanogate	AG	lost	control	of	
HOLMENKOL	AG,	Ditzingen,	by	reducing	its	stake	to	50	%	less	one	share.	
As	of	1	December	2011	HOLMENKOL	AG	is	no	longer	a	subsidiary	of	
Nanogate AG, but as Nanogate AG still exercises a significant influence over 
the company it is treated as an associate as of 1 December 2011. HOLMEN-
KOL	AG	was	deconsolidated	as	a	result	of	this	change	in	status.

FNP GmbH (in future: Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH), 
Quierschied-Göttelborn, was established in November 2008. This 
subsidiary was not consolidated as it is of minor overall significance for the 
assets, financial and earnings position of the Group. The financial figures for 
the immaterial subsidiary make up less than 5 % of the Group’s sales, equity 
and balance sheet total.

Shares in associated companies

An associated company is one over which the Group has a significant 
influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant 
influence is the ability to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee. It is to be distinguished from control and from 
joint control of financial and operating policy.

Equity holdings accounted for under the equity method are recognised at 
cost as of the acquisition date. The principles of purchase price allocation 
that apply to full consolidation are applied accordingly to the first-time 
measurement of the difference between acquisition cost and the proportion-
ate interest in the company.
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As a result of the change in its status, the acquisition date for HOLMEN-
KOL	AG	as	an	associated	company	is	1	December	2011.	The	first-time	
consolidation as an associate resulted in negative goodwill of around EUR 
1,850,000. According to the measurement and the reassessment of the 
carrying amount it should be assumed on the basis of the figures presented 
to	the	company	by	HOLMENKOL	AG	that	there	are	assets	that	still	need	
to be written down and there will still be unrealised losses. It can be 
assumed as a result that the negative goodwill includes anticipated losses. 
The gain was therefore not recognised in profit or loss. 

In subsequent periods the carrying amount will be increased or reduced by 
changes in the equity of the associate attributable to Nanogate AG.

Intermediate gains and losses from sales between Group companies and 
those accounted for using the equity method are eliminated up to the 
carrying amount.

Discontinued operations

HOLMENKOL	AG	was	an	independent	cash-generating	unit	within	the	
Nanogate Group. It is therefore considered to be a disposal group as defined 
in IFRS 5, to which clearly defined cash flows are attributed for operating 
and accounting purposes. As a result of the disposal of shares which led to 
the	loss	of	the	majority	interest,	HOLMENKOL	AG	is	presented	in	the	
income statement as a discontinued operation in line with IFRS 5. This 
separate	presentation	includes	current	earnings	for	HOLMENKOL	AG	as	
well as the result of the valuation and/or disposal of the discontinued 
operations. The figures for the previous year have been adjusted accordingly. 
For details of the result of discontinued operations we refer to the 
comments in B. 14.

Foreign currency translation 

In the individual financial statements of Nanogate AG and its subsidiar-
ies, receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the time of the respective transactions, and 
any translation differences are recognised through profit and loss on the 
balance sheet date at the rate prevailing on that date. 

The financial statements of all the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared in euros.

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets essentially comprise software, licences, trademarks and 
patent rights, a capitalised customer base and unpatented expertise, 
capitalised development costs and goodwill. 

Intangible assets acquired individually are measured at acquisition or 
production cost the first time they are reported (IAS 38). The acquisition 
costs of an intangible asset acquired through a business combination 
correspond to its fair value at the time of acquisition. After first-time 
recognition, the intangible assets are recognised at their acquisition or 
production costs, less accumulated amortisation and all accumulated 
impairment expenses, or at their acquisition cost. Production costs in 
this case encompass all costs which are directly attributable to the 
production process and reasonable proportions of the production-related 
overheads. Capitalised development costs include financing costs. The 
basic prerequisites of capitalisation are that a future benefit is likely to 
accrue to the company and that the costs can be ascertained reliably. 
Intangible assets are amortised over their contractual or estimated useful 
lives.

Development costs are capitalised at production cost insofar as clear 
expense allocation is possible and both technical feasibility and the 
products’ marketability and/or internal usability are secured. There must, 
moreover, be a sufficient degree of probability that the development 
activities will lead to corresponding cash inflows and/or cost reductions in 
the future. Only those cost components which can be attributed directly 
or indirectly to the development process can be capitalised. Up to 31 
December 2011, development costs eligible for capitalisation amounting 
to EUR 5,812,000 had been recognised. The capitalised development 
costs were reduced by the total of EUR 337,000 (previous year: EUR 
265,000) received in the form of expense grants. At the same time, there 
are a number of projects that did not fulfil the criteria for development 
costs in 2011. Research expenses and development costs not eligible for 
capitalisation are posted to expenses in the period in which they are 
incurred. Development costs are posted to expenses when their technical 
realisation is uncertain and when no estimate of a future economic benefit 
accruing from the resultant intangible asset can be made.
 
Ongoing amortisation of EUR 376,000 (previous year: EUR 322,000) 
was recognised in 2011 as individual projects were completed.

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” deal 
with accounting for derivative goodwill. Self-generated goodwill may not 
be capitalised under IFRS accounting rules. 

This asset item in the consolidated financial statements includes goodwill 
arising from the capital consolidation of subsidiaries.

Goodwill acquired for a consideration is capitalised and subjected to 
impairment testing at least once a year or whenever there is an indication 
that the unit’s value could be impaired, in accordance with IAS 36. The 
recoverable value of the goodwill is reviewed in a single-step process 
conducted at the level of the cash-generating unit to which it is assigned. 
At the Nanogate Group, cash-generating units are defined as the legal 
units. 

During the impairment test, the carrying amount of the cash-generating 
unit is compared with its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount, the value is impaired and must be 
written down. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is either 
its fair value less costs to sell or its value in use, whichever is the higher. 
At the Nanogate Group, the discounted cash flow method is used during 
impairment testing to calculate value in use.

Should the reasons for a prior goodwill impairment cease to exist, the 
value may not be written back.

If the present value of the identified assets, liabilities and contingencies of 
the acquired entity exceeds the acquisition costs of the business 
combination after a further assessment (negative goodwill), the surplus is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Annual impairment testing in the 2011 financial year revealed the need to 
write down goodwill by EUR 67,000. 

The revaluation of assets and liabilities that was carried out during the 
consolidation of Eurogard B.V. as at 1 July 2011 resulted in an increase 
in value, which in turn gave rise to deferred taxes amounting to 
EUR 211,000, which is also reported in this amount as additional 
goodwill.
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Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment, in accordance with IAS 16, is capitalised 
at acquisition or production cost – or at fair value as part of a revaluation 
– and depreciated using the straight-line method over their likely econom-
ic useful lives. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is based on 
useful lives of between three and 40 years which correspond to the 
expected useful lives within the Group. 

The useful lives, depreciation method and carrying amounts of the 
property, plant and equipment are reviewed every year in order to 
guarantee that the depreciation methods and periods are in line with the 
expected economic benefits of the assets.

If the acquisition or production phase for property, plant and equipment 
continues for a longer period, the interest on borrowed capital until 
completion is capitalised as part of the acquisition and production costs in 
line with IAS 23 (Borrowing Costs). These circumstances did not occur in 
2011 and so no interest on borrowed capital was capitalised.

In accordance with IAS 16, the costs of dismantling and removing an 
asset are included in the capitalised acquisition and production costs. In 
the financial year 2011 these came to EUR 45,000.

Impairment of assets (excluding goodwill)

IAS 36 requires that a review be undertaken of property, plant and 
equipment and assets with a finite useful life on each balance sheet date to 
identify whether there are any impairment triggering events.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a limited useful 
life (excluding goodwill) are examined for impairment if facts or changes 
in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable. As soon as the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit and 
loss. The recoverable amount is either the net selling price or the value in 
use of an asset, whichever is the higher. The net selling price is the 
amount recoverable from the sale of an asset at market standard terms, 
less costs to sell.

The value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the ongoing use of an asset and its disposal at 
the end of its useful life. The recoverable amount is calculated for each 
individual asset or – if this is not possible – for the cash-generating unit 
the asset belongs to. 

If the reason for a previous impairment of property, plant and equipment 
or intangible assets with a limited useful life (excluding goodwill) ceases 
to apply, the value is written back up to a maximum of amortised 
acquisition or production cost.
 
Impairment is reported in the income statement under depreciation/
amortisation, while write-backs are included in operating income.

Government grants 

Government grants are subsidies granted to the company to compensate 
for the past or future fulfilment of particular conditions in connection 
with the company’s operational activities. They must be reported in the 
balance sheet when there is a sufficient degree of certainty that the 
conditions will be met and the grant received. IAS 20 makes a distinction 
between grants which are related directly to the acquisition or production 
of particular assets (investment grants) and income grants which are not 
linked to a specific asset.

The income grants received were recognised immediately in profit and loss 
insofar as they are connected with expenses or losses that had already 
been incurred. The expense grants attributable to capitalised development 
costs were deducted from those costs. 

Government grants made on condition of non-current assets being 
purchased, built or otherwise procured are recognised in the balance sheet 
as deferred income and reported in profit or loss over the life of the asset 
in question on a systematic and rational basis. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets consist of loans and receivables, equity and debt securities 
acquired and cash and cash equivalents with positive fair values.

Financial assets are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 39 
(Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). This means that 
financial assets are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when Nanogate AG has a contractual right to receive cash or 
other financial assets from another party.

Purchases and sales of financial assets at market rates are accounted for at 
the settlement date. The first-time recognition of a financial asset is made 
at fair value plus transaction costs. Transaction costs incurred when 
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are acquired 
are recognised directly in the income statement.

Receivables that do not bear interest or do so at below-market rates are 
initially recognised at the present value of the expected future cash flows. 
Subsequent measurement is made in line with the classification of the 
financial assets according to the categories of IAS 39, which each have 
different measurement rules. The categories are: financial assets measured 
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, financial assets 
held to maturity and financial assets available for sale.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets not quoted on  
an active market. They are measured at amortised cost using the  
effective interest method. This measurement category includes trade 
receivables, financial receivables and loans included in other financial 
assets, other financial receivables and loans recognised in other receiva-
bles, and cash and cash equivalents. Interest income from items in this 
category is determined using the effective interest method except in the 
case of current receivables or if the effect of calculating interest is 
immaterial.

Financial assets available for sale are those non-derivative financial assets 
not assigned to one of the other three categories. These are in particular 
equity securities (e.g. shares) and debt securities not held to maturity that 
are included in other financial assets. Changes in the fair value of 
financial assets available for sale are recognised directly in equity. 
Changes in fair value are only recognised in profit or loss when the assets 
are disposed of. If the fair value is significantly below amortised cost or is 
below it for a longer period, an impairment is recognised in profit or loss. 
In cases where the market value of equity and debt securities can be 
determined, this is recognised as fair value. If there is no quoted market 
price and the fair value cannot be reliably estimated, the financial assets 
are recognised at cost less impairment losses.

If there are objective, substantive indications that financial assets in the 
two categories of loans and receivables and financial assets available for 
sale mentioned above may be impaired, a test is carried out to determine 
whether the carrying amount is greater than the present value of the 
expected future cash flows, which are discounted using the current 
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market yield of a comparable financial asset. If this is the case, the 
difference is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment.

Indications of impairment include operating losses at a company for 
several years in succession, a diminished market value, a substantial 
decline in creditworthiness, the high probability of insolvency or other 
forms of financial restructuring by a debtor or the disappearance of an 
active market. If the reasons for having recognised an impairment loss 
cease to exist, the loss is written back, but not to more than amortised 
cost. Impairment losses are not written back on available-for-sale equity 
securities. Financial assets are derecognised if the contractual rights to 
payment from the financial assets cease to exist or the financial assets 
together with all risks and rewards are transferred.
 
Assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include derivative 
financial assets held for trading which do not qualify as hedging 
instruments in a hedging relationship. These assets form part of the 
category of financial assets and are always held at fair value. Changes in 
value are recognised in profit or loss and presented in the financial result. 
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value based on 
quoted prices in an active market.

Financial assets held to maturity were not held as of 31 December 2011.

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at acquisition or production cost in accordance 
with IAS 2. In addition to direct costs, the production costs include 
reasonable portions of the necessary production-related material and 
production overheads, as well as depreciation necessitated by production 
and proportional administrative overheads that can be attributed directly 
to the production process. 

Inventory risks resulting from the length of storage or diminished 
realisability are taken into account by means of write-downs if necessary.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents contain cash in hand and call deposits with 
banks with original terms to maturity of up to three months. Cash and 
cash equivalents are reported at face value.

As regards the treatment of cash and cash equivalents in foreign 
currencies, see the “Foreign currency translation” section.

Income taxes 

Recognised income taxes include taxes on taxable profits in the respective 
countries as well as changes in deferred taxes. Income taxes are recognised 
for the probable amount of payment on the basis of the statutory 
regulations in force or adopted on the reporting date.

In accordance with IAS 12 (Income Taxes), deferred taxes are recognised 
for all temporary differences between the amounts in the balance sheet 
prepared for tax purposes and the IFRS balance sheet. In the event of the 
asset being realised or the liability discharged, temporary differences 
result in taxable or tax-deductible amounts. Taxable temporary differ-
ences result in the recognition of a deferred tax liability, while temporary 
differences which are tax-deductible result in the recognition of deferred 
tax assets.
 
In addition, deferred tax assets must be reported as loss carryforwards 
when it is likely that their utilisation will be possible. The deferrals are 

carried out for the amount of the likely tax burden or relief in subsequent 
financial years on the basis of the tax rate prevailing at the time of 
utilisation.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed on each 
balance sheet date and reduced if it is no longer likely that sufficient 
taxable income will be available to satisfy the claim either wholly or 
partly.

If there is a change in tax rates, its impact on the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities is recognised in profit or loss.

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
discounted.

Current and deferred taxes are posted to expenses or income, unless they 
have arisen in connection with items that were recognised directly in 
equity. In this case, the tax must also be recognised in equity.

Pension obligations 

In line with IAS 19, the projected unit credit method is used to calculate 
the present value of pension obligations on 31 December of each year. 
Future obligations are taken into account with the aid of actuarial 
methods. Specific assumptions have to be made which map the economic 
environment. These primarily consist of the applicable discount rate, the 
expected income from plan assets, and future developments in income 
and pensions.

The fair value of the plan assets is deducted from the present value of the 
pension obligations. The plan assets – which consist solely of pledged 
reinsurance policies – are valued annually on 31 December.

Actuarial gains and losses are recorded immediately through profit and 
loss and entered under pension provisions.

Provisions 

In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are formed for current legal or de 
facto obligations resulting from a past event which involve a probable 
outflow of resources whose amount can be estimated reliably. The amount 
to be carried as a liability is that which represents the best possible estimate 
of the outlay that is required to meet the current obligations as at the 
balance sheet date. Provisions which do not result in an outflow of resources 
the following year are reported at their settlement amount discounted to the 
balance sheet date, taking account of expected cost increases.
 
Market interest rates are used to calculate the present value. Provisions are 
not set off against rights of recourse. The provisions for guarantees are 
recognised on the basis of past experience. Provisions for dismantling and 
removal are recognised at the discounted amount necessary to settle the 
obligation, and property, plant and equipment is increased by the same 
amount (leasehold improvements). In subsequent periods, capitalised 
dismantling expenses are depreciated over the forecast (remaining) useful 
life of the leasehold improvements. The provision accrues annual interest.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet if the 
Nanogate Group has a contractual obligation to pay cash or other 
financial assets to another party. First-time recognition of a financial 
liability is made at the fair value of the goods or services received or at the 
value of cash received less transaction costs incurred. Financial liabilities 
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at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual obligations are 
settled, cancelled or expire.

As regards the treatment of liabilities in foreign currencies, see the 
“Foreign currency translation” section.

Other receivables and liabilities

Deferrals, prepayments and other non-financial assets and liabilities are 
held at amortised cost. They are reversed as the performance obligation is 
discharged.

Accounting for leases 

The classification of leases is based on IAS 17, having regard to IFRIC 4, 
according to which a distinction is made between finance leases and 
operating leases.

Leases are classified as finance leases when essentially all the risks and 
rewards associated with ownership are transferred to the lessee under the 
lease agreement. 

Assets held under a finance lease are reported as Group assets for the first 
time at the beginning of the lease at the lower of their fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.
 
The corresponding liability to the lessor must be shown in the balance 
sheet as an obligation from finance leases. In 2011, assets of EUR 757,000 
arising from finance lease agreements were posted (previous year: EUR 
2,017,000). They are depreciated over their useful lives.

The lease payments are apportioned between interest expenses and lease 
obligations, with the result that the rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability is constant. Interest expenses are recognised 
directly in the income statement.

Leases in which the economic ownership of the leased item remains with 
the lessor are regarded as operating leases. In these cases, rental or lease 
payments are recognised through profit or loss using the straight-line 
method over the term of the respective lease.

Expense and income recognition

The Nanogate Group’s sales result from self-generated products and the 
enhancement of products. Sales are recognised at the fair values of 
consideration received or still to be received and reduced by the values of 
customer returns, discounts and other similar deductions.

Sales and other operating income are recognised on delivery and transfer 
of risks to the customer. Operating expenses are recognised in profit or 
loss at the time when the goods or services are utilised or when the 
expenses are incurred. Interest income and expenses are recognised using 
the accrual method.

Estimates made during preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS requires assumptions and estimates to be made that affect the assets 

and liabilities reported in the balance sheet, the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities and other financial obligations as of the balance sheet date, and 
the reporting of expenses and income during the reporting period. 

The estimates are based on past experience and other assumptions that are 
considered appropriate under the given circumstances. They are 
continually reviewed but can differ from the actual amounts.

Assumptions and estimates mainly relate to defining useful lives, 
calculating discounted cash flows in the course of measuring intangible 
assets during purchase price allocation and when conducting impairment 
tests and recognising provisions, e.g. for litigation, taxes, rebates and 
guarantees.
 
The assumptions and estimates additionally relate to, in particular, the 
realisability of future tax relief. The estimates with regard to deferred 
taxes on loss carryforwards depend to a large extent on the development 
of income at the relevant taxable entities. The amounts which actually 
arise in future periods can therefore differ from the estimates.

An estimate was also made as part of segment reporting. This related to 
assigning assets and depreciation/amortisation to segments based on an 
estimate of pro rata use.

Changes in presentation 

In the 2011 financial year the amortisation of financial assets (EUR 
406,000) was shown below EBIT for the first time in the item financial 
expenses. To enable comparison, the presentation of the previous year’s 
figures (EUR 317,000) has been adjusted accordingly. Regarding these 
changes in presentation we also refer to “General principles” in section 2.

Significant acquisitions in the financial year 2011 –  
company acquisitions

Business combination
Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands

On 8 June 2011 a contract was signed for the purchase of 100 % of the 
shares in Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands. The shares acquired 
correspond to the voting rights. The company specialises in enhancing 
surfaces on two-dimensional components and coating transparent 
plastics. Nanogate AG and Eurogard B.V. aim above all to achieve growth 
together by expanding international business further and developing new 
applications. The purchase price came to EUR 10,125,000 and was paid 
in cash. The transaction costs for the company’s acquisition were reported 
as an expense.

The measurement of the company’s assets and liabilities at fair value 
resulted in goodwill of EUR 5,443,000. On balance, the higher fair 
values resulted in a deferred tax liability, which influences the value of the 
goodwill in the amount of EUR 211,000.

The goodwill reflects the consideration paid for the benefits of expected 
synergies, sales growth and future market developments. As these benefits 
do not satisfy the requirements for intangible assets they are not 
recognised separately from goodwill. 

The following table shows the main assets and liabilities of the company 
immediately before and after the acquisition date.
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Assets acquired

in EUR ,000

Before 
acquisition

After 
acquisition

Non-current assets 2,696 3,616
Current assets 2,971 2,971
Cash and cash equivalents 165 165
Total assets 5,832 6,752

Liabilities assumed

in EUR ,000

Before 
acquisition

After 
acquisition

Non-current liabilities 140 351
Current liabilities 1,643 1,718
Total equity and liabilities 1,783 2,069
Net assets 4,049 4,683

The initial consolidation took place with effect from 1 July 2011.

Since its consolidation Eurogard B.V. has contributed sales revenue of 
EUR 4,204,000 and earnings for the period of EUR 468,000. On the 
assumption that the acquisition had taken place as of 1 January 2011, 
Eurogard B.V. would have contributed EUR 9,716,000 to Group sales and 
EUR 1,759,000 to earnings for the financial year 2011.

Significant acquisitions in the financial year 2010 – final purchase 
price allocation 

Business combination
GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd

Nanogate AG acquired control of GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentech-
nik AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd, effective 1 September 2010. As a conse-
quence, GfO AG was included in the consolidated financial statements 
of Nanogate AG from this point onwards. For the resulting first-time full 
consolidation the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities correspond-
ing to the proportion of the shares acquired were measured as part of 
the purchase price allocation as at 1 September 2010. The purchase price 
allocation for intangible assets could not be completed the previous year 
and their measurement in accordance with IFRS 3.45 was therefore based 
on provisional figures.
 
The measurement phase was concluded within the twelve month period. 
This involved the reassessment of recognised assets and liabilities and 
their measurement and the alteration of the purchase price allocation to 
reflect improved knowledge at the acquisition date. The resulting adjust-
ment had no effect on profit or loss. Now that the purchase price has 
been allocated, the fair values of the intangible assets and the deferred tax 
liability are as follows:

Purchase price allocation

as at 1 September 2010

in EUR ,000

Provisional Final Change

Goodwill 1,251 - -1,251
Licensing rights 613 613 -
Customer base 2,566 2,566 -
Non-patented know-how1) 521 2,329 1,808
Other intangible assets 22 22 -
Deferred tax liabilities -1,251 -1,808 -557

1)   Non-patented know-how in connection with word marks

Because of the adjustments made in the course of completing the purchase 
price allocation, the previous year’s figures for intangible assets and de-
ferred tax liabilities have been adjusted accordingly to enable comparison.

B. Notes to the consolidated income statement

3. Sales 

The consideration paid by customers for deliveries made and services 
rendered − less sales reductions – is reported under sales. The classification 
of sales by market can be found in section D. 36 “Segment reporting”.

4. Other own work capitalised 

This item comprises own work expended in 2011 in connection with the 
development costs capitalised under intangible assets and the production 
costs for machinery reported in property, plant and equipment.

5. Other operating income 

Other operating income consists of the following: 

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Transfer of costs / reimbursements 142 87

Subsidies 167 183
Income from accrual of grants 39 40
Non-cash benefits for use of vehicles 113 87
Income from write-backs of receivables 13 2
Income from revaluation from purchase price allocation - 4,608
Miscellaneous other income 201 101

675 5,108

The grants reported above refer solely to income subsidies received in 
connection with expenses that had already been incurred in the respective 
financial year.

6. Cost of materials 

The cost of materials is as follows:

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Cost of raw materials and supplies 8,374 3,990

Cost of external services 4,604 3,570

12,978 7,560

7. Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses are as follows:

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Wages and salaries 10,305 4,857

Social security 1,678 1,089

Pensions 155 86

Non-cash remuneration costs

for stock options 50 50

12,188 6,082

In order to secure the long-term loyalty and motivation of the Nanogate 
Group’s employees, Nanogate AG has launched a stock option programme 
to facilitate participation in the company’s share capital in the form of 
share subscription in return for the fulfilment of certain requirements. As 
of 31 December 2011 there were a total of 112,631 stock options which 
had not yet expired or been exercised. The stock option models influenced 
earnings by EUR 50,000 in the financial year 2011.
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More information about the stock option programme can be found in 
section C. 26 of the Notes.

8. Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses are made up as follows:

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Operating expenses 2,115 1,290

Administrative expenses 1,302 1,153

Sales expenses 1,514 1,164

Losses on receivables and impairment 747 70

Miscellaneous other expenses 692 258

6,370 3,935

9.  Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment

A detailed breakdown of the amortisation of intangible assets and 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment can be found in the 
statement of assets, which is presented in the appendix to the Notes.

10. Financial income

The financial income shown largely consists of interest payments received 
on loans. Of the interest income, EUR 24,000 (previous year: EUR 
27,000) impacted on cash flow in 2011.

11. Financial expenses

The financial expenses are mostly interest expenses for overdrafts and 
bank loans. Financial expenses also include amortisation of financial 
assets amounting to EUR 406,000 (previous year: EUR 317,000). EUR 
767,000 (previous year: EUR 249,000) of the interest expenses shown had 
an impact on cash flow in the financial year 2011.

12. Result from investments accounted for using the equity method

The pro rata earnings of EUR 15,000 from the investment accounted for 
using the equity method as of 31 December 2011 relate to HOLMEN-
KOL	AG.	These	earnings	were	derived	from	the	portfolio	company’s	
figures for the 2011 financial year. As the first-time consolidation of 
HOLMENKOL	AG	as	an	associated	company	resulted	in	negative	
goodwill and the assumption is that this includes anticipated losses, the 
pro rata earnings have been offset against the negative goodwill. The 
earnings were therefore not recognised in the income statement. We refer 
to section A. 2. Accounting and measurement principles / Shares in 
associated companies for further comments on the negative goodwill.  

13. Income taxes

Expenses and income arising from income taxes in the financial year 2011 
can be broken down as follows: 

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Current taxes

Germany 438 89

Abroad 156 -

Taxes previous years -25 32

Deferred taxes -429 -1,812

(tax expense +; tax income -) 140 -1,691

The table below shows the reconciliation between expected and reported 
tax expenses in the respective financial years. To determine the expected 
tax expenses, the earnings before taxes are multiplied by the overall tax 
rate for 2011 of 30.175 %. This tax rate is a combined income tax rate 
comprising the uniform corporation tax rate of 15.0 %, plus the solidarity 
surcharge of 5.5 % and an effective trade tax rate of 14.35 %.

The following reconciliation statement shows the difference between 
expected and reported income tax expenses:

   2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Earnings before taxes -311 320

Applicable tax rate 30.175 % 30.175 %

Expected tax expense 94 -97

Effects of changes in tax rates -22 -170

Effects of different tax rates in foreign countries 32 -
Adjustment due to effects from corporate tax act 

Section	8b	(5)	KStG -369 419
Differences due to varying trade tax multipliers 17 6

Tax-free income/expenses - -

Tax increase due to non-tax-deductible costs -38 -127

Non-capitalised tax deferrals on losses; realisable loss 

carryforwards on which no deferred taxes were calculated  126 -
Impairment on loss carryforwards - -63

Tax-neutral effects from company acquisition - 1,751

Tax rebates/payments for prior years 22 -32

Other tax effects -2 4

Income tax expense recognised in

the income statement -140 1,691

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated for future effects that 
arise from the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the IFRS balance sheet and the amounts reported for tax 
purposes. The calculation of deferred taxes was based on forecast income 
tax rates for the future tax period.

The rate of corporation tax currently applicable in the Federal Republic of 
Germany is 15.0 %, while the index for trade tax is 3.5 %. For the 
companies included in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 
December 2011, an effective corporation tax rate of 15.825 % was used as 
the basis for calculating deferred taxes.

The deferred taxes were calculated using an overall tax rate determined for 
the parent company. The multiple for determining trade tax was 410.0 %, 
as in the previous year. Altogether, the combined income tax rate for 
determining deferred taxes was 30.175 %.
 
The deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from accounting differences 
and are distributed among the individual balance sheet items as follows:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Non-current assets 67 27

Inventories 4 18

Other assets 65 82

Other provisions 187 153

Other liabilities 82 440

Loss carryforwards 3,684 4,865

Deferred tax assets 4,089 5,585

Non-current assets -3,990 -5,391

Trade receivables -7 -10

Other assets -29 -29

Other provisions -7 -9

Other liabilities -2 -1

Deferred tax liabilities -4,035 -5,440

Net deferred taxes, deferred tax assets 54 145
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The deferred tax liabilities include EUR 2,019,000 resulting from 
company acquisitions in prior years and in 2011 that could not be 
recognised through profit or loss. Developments in the reporting year 
included a change of EUR 211,000 not recognised through profit or loss 
arising from the higher fair values posted in conjunction with the 
purchase price allocation for Eurogard B.V. and a related increase in 
goodwill. 

The tax loss carryforwards which are likely to be realisable were estimated 
at EUR 12,209,000 (previous year: EUR 16,122,000) on condition that 
the foreseeable realisation period applies. As a result, deferred tax assets 
on loss carryforwards amounting to EUR 3,684,000 (previous year: 
EUR 4,865,000) are reported in the consolidated balance sheet as of 
31 December 2011.

In the financial year 2011 the existing tax loss carryforwards were 
recognised in full.

IFRS stipulates that deferred tax assets and liabilities must be reported as 
non-current but also contain current elements that are realised within 
twelve months of the balance sheet date. The likely realisation of the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities (after netting out current deferred tax 
assets against deferred tax liabilities) is shown in the following table: 

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Total > 1 year Total > 1 year

Deferred tax assets 4,089 3,684 5,585 4,865

Deferred tax liabilities -4,035 -3,990 -5,440 -2,503 

Net deferred taxes 54 -306 145 2,362

14. Discontinued operations

The following table shows the result from discontinued operations at 
HOLMENKOL	AG:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Total operating income 6,179 6,809

Total operating expenses -6,840 -7,949

Current result from discontinued operations before taxes -661 -1,140

Income taxes on discontinued operations -6 171

Current result from discontinued operations after taxes -667 -969

Result of valuation/disposal of discontinued operations -2,244 -

Taxes on result of valuation/disposal - -
Result of valuation/disposal of discontinued 

operations after taxes -2,244 -
Result from discontinued operations -2,911 -969

15. Earnings attributable to non-controlling interests

Earnings from continuing and discontinued operations are attributed as 
 follows

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Net income/loss

Net income/loss from continuing operations -451 2,011

Net income/loss from discontinued operations -2,911 -969

Total net income/loss -3,362 1,042

of which attributable to minority interests

Net income/loss from continuing operations 600 70

Net income/loss from discontinued operations -333 -484

Net income/loss attributable to minority interests 267 -414

16. Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share are determined in accordance with IAS 33 by 
dividing consolidated net income for the year (after minority interests and 
allocation of earnings to shareholders of the parent company) by the 
average number of shares in circulation during the year. The key figures 
for earnings per share are as follows:

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000
Consolidated net income/loss including allocation of earnings 

to shareholders after minority interests (in rounded EUR) -3,629,207 1,455,782
from continued operations -1,051,708 1,940,057

from discontinued operations -2,577,499 -484,275

Weighted average number of shares issued

Basic 2,165,531 1,905,000

Diluted 2,171,078 1,910,558

Basic earnings per share (in EUR) -1.68 0.76

from continued operations -0.49 1.27

from discontinued operations -1.20 -0.51

Diluted earnings per share (in EUR) -1.67 0.76

from continued operations -0.48 1.27

from discontinued operations -1.19 -0.51

The diluted number of shares issued refers to 29,570 shares that can only 
be issued under certain circumstances.

With regard to the stock option programme, the value of the shares to be 
granted from the remaining tranches is well below the exercise price of the 
options granted. The first two tranches therefore have no effect on the 
diluted earnings per share.

C.  Notes to the consolidated statement of financial   
position 

It should be noted that the figures for the previous year included assets, 
liabilities	and	provisions	of	HOLMENKOL	AG,	whereas	the	balance	
sheet as of 31 December 2011 no longer includes any figures for 
HOLMENKOL	AG,	as	the	company	has	been	deconsolidated.

Changes in individual items of intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment are shown in the statement of assets (see appendix to the 
Notes).

17. Intangible assets

Please refer to the consolidated statement of assets for a breakdown of 
intangible assets.

The software and licences, trademarks and patents shown are intangible 
assets acquired for payment. Of these intangible assets, EUR 1,042,000 
have a limited useful life of three to 12 years and are amortised on a 
straight-line basis. This item also includes the word marks ELAMET®  
and SICRALAN®, which have an indefinite useful life and are carried at 
EUR 2,329,000 in connection with non-patented know-how.

The self-generated intangible assets reported in the balance sheet (IAS 
38.57) relate entirely to development costs; these are accounted for by 
eight overall development projects. In 2011, development projects were 
amortised by EUR 376,000 (previous year: EUR 322,000) and impair-
ment losses of EUR 0 (previous year: EUR 2,226,000) were recorded.

In the financial year 2011, total research and development expenses of 
EUR 3,582,000 (previous year: EUR 3,457,000) were incurred.
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Recognised goodwill results from the acquisition of Nanogate Industrial 
Solutions GmbH as of 1 January 2006 and the purchase of Eurogard B.V. 
in 2011.

The acquisition of Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH gave rise to 
goodwill of EUR 731,000, which was recognised as an asset following the 
acquisition of the subsidiary, and to goodwill of EUR 930,000 from the 
initial consolidation. The consolidation of Eurogard B.V. on acquisition 
gave rise to goodwill of EUR 5,443,000. 

In accordance with IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 36 and IAS 38, good-
will resulting from company acquisitions is not amortised, but subjected 
to an annual impairment test. In the course of impairment testing, the 
goodwill originally acquired from Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH 
was written down by EUR 67,000 (previous year: EUR 882,000). There 
were no indications of any impairment to the goodwill of other entities in 
the financial year 2011.

The purchase of Eurogard B.V. resulted in deferred tax liabilities of EUR 
211,000, which affect the carrying amount of goodwill.

The goodwill disposed of in the course of deconsolidating HOLMEN-
KOL	AG	was	recognised	in	changes	in	companies	included	in	the	
consolidated financial statements.

A reclassification of EUR 1,251,000 was carried out in the previous year’s 
figures due to adjustments made when completing the purchase price 
allocation for GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG. For further 
information we refer to “General principles” in section 2.

18. Property, plant and equipment 

Compared with the previous year, property, plant and equipment is as 
follows:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000
Land, equivalent rights and buildings,  

including buildings on third-party land 8,758 9,336
Technical equipment and machinery 6,955 4,326

Other equipment, office and plant equipment 645 1,056

Leased assets 676 2,017

Payments on account 138 201

17,172 16,936

The increase as of 31 December 2011 compared with 31 December 2010 
stems mainly from the acquisition of Eurogard B.V. (EUR 3,614,000) and 
current investing activities in 2011. Additions in 2011 amounted to EUR 
641,000. Disposals included EUR 2,048,000 from the deconsolidation of 
HOLMENKOL	AG.	Other	disposals	amounted	to	EUR	95,000	and	
current depreciation for the financial year 2011 to EUR 1,876,000.

The following economic useful lives formed the basis for determining the 
depreciation:

Years

Outside facilities 6 - 13

Operating facilities 5 - 13

Buildings on own land 10 - 50

Buildings on third-party land 5 - 33

Technical equipment and machinery 4 - 20

Other equipment, office and plant equipment 3 - 15

Equipment from finance leases 3 - 5

19. Financial assets

The recognised non-current financial assets as of 31 December 2011 
consisted mainly of the investment in FNP GmbH at EUR 847,000 
(previous year: EUR 547,000) and loans of EUR 193,000 (previous year: 
EUR 205,000) with a term to maturity of more than one year. The 
deconsolidation	of	HOLMENKOL	AG	also	resulted	in	the	derecognition	
of	the	indirect	investments	in	HOLMENKOL	Japan	Ltd,	Osaka,	Japan	
(previous	year:	EUR	545,000)	and	HOLMENKOL	NORGE	A/S,	
Hokksund, Norway (previous year: EUR 8,000).

20. Deferred tax assets

The deferred tax assets essentially comprise the tax loss carryforwards of 
EUR 12,209,000 (previous year: EUR 16,122,000) that are likely to be 
realisable. Changes in and components of deferred taxes are explained in 
section B. 13 “Income taxes”. 

21. Inventories

As at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010, inventories were as 
follows:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Raw materials and supplies 1,027 937

Work in progress 202 374

Finished goods and merchandise 688 1,983

1,917 3,294

The inventories relate almost entirely to Nanogate AG (EUR 583,000), 
Eurogard B.V. (EUR 418,000) and GfO AG (EUR 844,000). No 
impairment charges were necessary as per the respective balance sheet 
dates.

22. Trade receivables

Current trade receivables on the respective balance sheet dates were as 
follows:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Domestic receivables 2,425 2,004

Foreign receivables 2,031 2,415
4,456 4,419

Impairments on at-risk receivables -680 -47

3,776 4,372

As part of subsequent measurement, any impairments that may be 
necessary are taken into account (amortised cost). The impairments reflect 
the possible default risk. There are no significant overdue receivables 
which have not been impaired. There are no other noteworthy credit risks, 
interest rate risks or currency risks.

Changes in impairments: 

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Position at the start of the year 47 34
Change in the companies included in the consolidated 

financial statements -2 22
Write-downs during the financial year 648 22

Increase/decrease in impairments through profit and loss -13 -31

Position at the end of the year 680 47
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Before the Group takes on a new customer, it arranges for an external 
credit assessment in order to judge the creditworthiness of the potential 
customer in question and set its credit limit. The determination of the 
recoverable value of trade receivables takes account of every change in 
creditworthiness between the granting of the payment period and the 
balance sheet date. The Management Board is convinced that no risk 
provisioning is necessary in addition to the impairments already 
recognised. 

Current trade receivables were overdue as follows:

Carrying 

amount

of which: neither 
impaired

nor overdue
on the reporting 

date

of which: not impaired but overdue  
on the reporting date

up to 3 
months

3 - 6 
months

6 - 12 
months

more than 
12 months

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000
31.12.2011 3,776 3,028 564 74 5 2

31.12.2010 4,372 3,257 791 110 28 149

Of the total reported trade receivables amounting to EUR 3,786,000 
(previous year: EUR 4,372,000), EUR 10,000 (previous year: EUR 0) are 
due in more than one year.

23. Financial assets 

In 2011 current financial assets mainly consisted of loans of EUR 56,000 
(previous year: EUR 38,000). 

The receivables on a contractual basis reported as per the balance sheet 
date have been measured at amortised cost (IAS 39.46). If there are any 
objective indications of credit risks, these are taken into account when 
calculating amortised cost.

There were no interest rate or currency risks as per the balance sheet date.

Financial assets were overdue as follows:

Carrying 

amount

of which: neither 
impaired

nor overdue
on the reporting 

date

of which: not impaired but overdue  
on the reporting date

up to 3 
months

3 - 6 
months

6 - 12 
months

more than 
12 months

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000
31.12.2011 1,150 1,150 - - - -

31.12.2010 1,378 1,377 - - 1 -

24. Other assets

The other assets reported as per 31 December 2011 and 31 December 
2010 consist of the following:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Outstanding subsidies 85 115

Prepayments/payments on account/prepaid expenses 133 75

Sales tax and other taxes 100 151

Creditors with debit balances 241 -

Receivables from staff 3 -

Deferral equity fund-raising costs - 95

Other 74 37

636 473

25. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to EUR 8,957,000 (previous year: 
EUR 4,067,000) were reported as of the balance sheet date. These consist 
solely of cash in hand and current credit balances at banks in the form of 
cash at call and fixed-term deposits. The fixed-term deposits held at 
financial institutions earn interest at standard market rates based on the 
three-month Euribor rate. The fixed-term deposits’ terms end within 90 
days of the balance sheet date.

In view of the short terms of the fixed-term deposits, i.e. the short 
fixed-interest periods, the market risk is of minor importance. In view of 
the banks’ credit standing, there is no assumption of a default risk. The 
interest accrued but not yet settled up to 31 December 2011 is reported 
under other current financial assets. In the financial year 2011, interest 
income from these financial instruments assigned to the loans and 
receivables category amounted to EUR 46,000. 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents in accordance with IAS 7 are shown 
in the cash flow statement.

26. Equity 

Group equity and its individual components are shown in detail in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Subscribed capital

By resolution of the Management Board dated 16 December 2010 and 
entered in the commercial register on 24 March 2011, the share capital 
was increased from EUR 1,905,000.00 to EUR 1,942,639.00 from 
authorised capital by issuing 37,639 new shares for subscription in kind. 
Furthermore, by resolution of the Management Board dated 7 July 2011 
and entered in the commercial register on 1 August 2011, the share capital 
was increased from EUR 1,942,639.00 to EUR 2,472,449.00 from 
authorised capital by issuing 529,810 new shares for subscription in cash. 
At the same time 5,780 new shares were issued from conditional capital to 
holders of subscription rights (share price on the issue date: EUR 16.60). 
This increased share capital from EUR 2,472,449.00 to EUR 
2,478,229.00. As of 31 December 2011 the share increase from condi-
tional capital had not yet been entered in the commercial register.

Subscribed capital was therefore set at EUR 2,478,229.00 as of 31 
December 2011. It is divided into 2,478,229 no-par-value bearer shares 
with an arithmetical share of the company’s subscribed capital of EUR 
1.00 per share. 

Conditional capital

The shareholders’ meeting on 26 June 2006 (with the amendment passed 
on 28 June 2006) resolved to initiate a stock option programme and 
create conditional capital of EUR 150,000.00 in connection with the 
scheme (“2006 stock option plan”). On the basis of this, the Supervisory 
Board – or the Management Board with the Supervisory Board’s approval 
– is authorised to grant entitled shareholders subscription rights (“stock 
options”) for up to 150,000 (later capped at up to 114,090) no-par shares 
in tranches up to 15 June 2011. Based on this authorisation, stock options 
to subscribe for a total of 104,090 no-par-value shares were issued to 
entitled shareholders. 

The shareholders’ meeting on 16 June 2010 resolved to limit the 
authorisation granted to the Management Board at the shareholders’ 
meeting on 26/28 June 2006 so as to allow a further 10,000 options to be 
issued. This limit applies to future options issues. It was also resolved to 
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authorise the Supervisory Board to issue further stock options to members 
of the Nanogate AG Management Board under the 2006 stock option 
plan in the future. A conditional increase in share capital of up to EUR 
114,090.00 was therefore effected (Conditional Capital I) by issuing a 
maximum of 114,090 new no-par-value bearer shares. The conditional 
capital increase is designed to satisfy share subscription rights held by 
members of the company’s management, company employees and employ-
ees of affiliated companies granted in accordance with the resolution of 
the shareholders’ meeting held on 26 June 2006. The conditional capital 
increase will be effected only insofar as is necessary to meet the require-
ments of options being taken up by holders of subscription rights 
exercising those rights.
 
Furthermore, the shareholders’ meeting on 16 June 2010 resolved to effect 
a conditional increase in share capital totalling EUR 75,910.00 by issuing 
up to 75,910 new no-par-value bearer shares (Conditional Capital II). The 
conditional capital increase is designed to satisfy share subscription rights 
issued to executives and employees at Nanogate AG and executives and 
employees at companies affiliated with Nanogate AG at the time when 
subscription rights were issued, as defined in Section 15 ff. of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The Management Board is authorised to 
issue stock options to entitled shareholders up to 15 June 2015 with the 
Supervisory Board’s approval.

In October 2011 following the exercise of stock options, 5,780 shares were 
issued from conditional capital to members of the Management Board 
and employees of Nanogate AG.

As at 31 December 2011, conditional capital therefore totalled EUR 
184,220.00 and was made up as follows:

- Conditional Capital I: EUR 108,310.00 and
- Conditional Capital II: EUR 75,910.00.

Authorised capital

The Management Board, with the agreement of the Supervisory Board, is 
authorised by the shareholders’ meeting held on 16 June 2006 to increase 
the company’s share capital in one or more stages by 15 June 2015 by up 
to a total of EUR 950,000.00 by issuing a maximum of 950,000 new 
no-par-value bearer shares with a proportional share of EUR 1.00 in the 
share capital against contributions in cash or kind (Authorised Capital I). 
Shareholders must be granted subscription rights. However, subject to the 
agreement of the Supervisory Board, the Management Board is authorised 
to preclude the right of shareholders to subscribe for shares. Shareholder 
subscription rights may be precluded only under the following circum-
stances, however:

- to compensate for residual amounts;
-  if the new shares are issued to employees of Nanogate AG or 

companies affiliated with Nanogate AG as defined in Section 15 ff. 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG);

-  if the new shares are issued as part of a capital increase for subscrip-
tion in kind in order to acquire companies, parts of companies or 
equity holdings in companies as part of Nanogate AG’s business 
purpose;

-  if the shares are issued at a price which does not significantly 
undercut the quoted price and the preclusion of share subscription 
rights applies only to new shares whose arithmetical par value is less 
than 10 % of the share capital, i.e. no more than EUR 190,500.00; 
the utilisation of the 10 % limit and the preclusion of sub-scription 
rights must take account of other authorisations under Section 186 
(3) (4) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

 

Further details of shareholders’ rights and the terms of share issuance are 
decided upon by the Management Board with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board.

When the capital increases resolved by the Management Board on 16 
December 2010 and 7 July 2011 and approved by the Supervisory Board 
were entered in the commercial register they reduced the original 
authorised capital from EUR 950,000 to EUR 382,551.00. 

Capital reserves

This item consists mainly of capital reserves pursuant to Section 272 of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) amounting to EUR 13,388,000, 
reduced by the equity fund-raising costs of EUR 1,189,000.

The capital reserves also include the carrying amount of the obligations 
(EUR 269,000) that arise within the framework of the stock option 
programme launched by Nanogate AG and (cf. the explanations in 
“Share-based payment”).

Retained earnings

In addition to a EUR 10,000 statutory reserve in accordance with Section 
150 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), which was formed 
at GfO AG in late 2010, retained earnings include a revaluation reserve of 
EUR 266,000 and other reserves of EUR 1,373,000.

Deferred tax expense of EUR 105,000 was deducted from the EUR 
371,000 revaluation reserve formed, taking the reserve to EUR 266,000. 
In the 2011 financial year EUR 42,000 was reclassified from the 
revaluation reserve to other retained earnings.

Share-based payment

Based on the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting held on 26/28 June 
2006 and the limit imposed by the shareholders’ meeting on 16 June 
2010, the Management Board is authorised, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to grant entitled shareholders subscription rights 
(stock options) for up to 114,090 no-par-value bearer shares in one or 
more tranches up to 25 June 2011 (see also “Conditional Capital I”). 
Furthermore, the shareholders’ meeting on 16 June 2010 authorised the 
Management Board, subject to the Supervisory Board’s approval, to grant 
further stock options up to 15 June 2015 for the subscription of up to 
75,910 no-par-value bearer shares to members of the Management Board 
and employees of both Nanogate AG and companies affiliated with 
Nanogate AG at the time the subscription rights are issued as defined in 
Section 15 ff. of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG; see also 
“Conditional Capital II”).

Once individual preconditions have been met, the beneficiaries receive the 
right to subscribe for no-par-value bearer shares in Nanogate AG with an 
arithmetical share of EUR 1.00 each in the share capital.
 
Five tranches had been issued by 31 December 2011. The issue periods 
were from 28 June to 31 December 2006, from 2 July to 15 July 2008, 
from 25 June to 8 July 2009, from 24 June to 7 July 2010 and from 30 
June to 14 July 2011. The exercise period was set at three years, whereby a 
two-year lock-up period has been agreed for tranches 1 to 4 and a 
four-year lock-up period has been agreed for tranche 5. Depending on the 
issue date, reference share prices were set at EUR 32.00, EUR 19.46, EUR 
13.47, EUR 15.86 and EUR 21.07, with a hurdle of 120 % of the reference 
price. In total, 112,631 options had been granted as of 31 December 2011. 
The first tranche expired at the end of the exercise period (28.6.2011).
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As far as the balance sheet treatment of IFRS 2 is concerned, the stock 
option programme is classified as “equity-based”, as the remuneration is 
always geared to subscription for shares. Share-based payment with 
genuine equity instruments must be measured at the fair value of the 
goods or services received (direct measurement). As this cannot be 
determined reliably, the fair value of the equity instruments at the time 
they were granted (indirect measurement method using the option pricing 
model) must be used. 

The option pricing model applied was the Black-Scholes measurement 
model. The central parameters for the fifth tranche issued in 2011 (18,850 
options) are the basic price of this tranche, a volatility of 44.67 % 
determined using a peer group analysis (based on the last 250 trading 
days), a term per tranche of 84 months, a risk-free interest rate of 1.63 % 
and an expected dividend yield of 2.0 %. Staff fluctuation of 15.0 % was 
also factored in. The fair value of the options granted individually, in 
combination with the fair value of the relevant tranche, amounts to an 
average of EUR 6.08 per option and a total of EUR 47,000. This means 
that EUR 30,000 (previous year: EUR 50,000) was to be recognised for 
the reporting period. In line with IFRS 2 this was posted via personnel 
expenses to the capital reserves.

Non-controlling interests

This balancing item includes the shares held by parties outside the Group 
in the fully consolidated GfO AG.

27. Pension obligations 

The Group operates defined-benefit plans for beneficiaries at its subsidiary 
GfO AG.

The latest actuarial measurements of plan assets and the present value of 
the defined-benefit obligation were performed as of 31 December 2011 by 
Prof. Dr. Dieter Denneberg, Peter Denneberg (GbR), Bremen

Pension obligations developed as follows after being offset against plan 
assets:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Present value of pension obligations 1,027 962
Fair value of plan assets 273 218
Performance obligations exceeding assets 754 744

The table below shows changes in the present value of the pension 
obligations:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Present value of pension obligations as of 1 January 962 840
Costs of new pension entitlements in financial year

Benefit entitlements 24 9
Accrued interest on pension entitlements 50 47

Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) 26 101
Pension obligations paid -35 -35
Present value of pension obligations as of 31 December 1,027 962

The fair value of the plan assets developed as follows:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Fair value of plan assets as of 1 January 218 164

Expected income from plan assets 9 7

Actuarial gains (+) / losses (-) -5 -3
Employer contributions 51 50
Fair value of plan assets as of 31 December 273 218

The following parameters were used to measure the pension obligations 
and plan assets as at 31 December of each year and to estimate pension 
expenses in the relevant reporting period:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

% %

Actuarial interest rate 4.70 5.20

Expected income development 2.00 2.00

Expected pension development 2.00 2.00

Expected asset income 4.00 4.00

Pension expenses for each period can be broken down as shown below:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000
Costs of new pension entitlements in financial year

Benefit entitlements
24 9

Accrued interest on pension entitlements 50 47

Expected income from plan assets -9 -7
Amortised net profit (-) / loss (+) 31 104
Pension expenses for period 96 153

Accrued interest on the benefit entitlements is recognised in financial 
expenses and the remaining amounts are included in personnel expenses.

Figures for the current year and previous years for pension obligations, 
plan assets and empirical adjustments:

2011 2010 2009 2008

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Present value of pension obligations 1,027 962 840 815
Fair value of plan assets 273 218 164 154

Performance obligations 
exceeding assets 754 744

 

676

 

661
Empirical increase (+) / decrease (-) 

in pension obligations 26 101 5 4
Empirical increase (+) / decrease (-) 

in plan assets -5 -3 -4 -3

The IFRS opening balance sheet for GfO AG as of 1 January 2009 did not 
show the figures as of 31 December 2007.

28.  Provisions 

The only provisions reported are “other provisions”.

Alongside employee obligations of EUR 135,000 (previous year: 121,000), 
the non-current provisions mainly consist of removal and dismantling 
obligations of EUR 68,000 (previous year: EUR 64,000) and archival 
expenses of EUR 50,000 (previous year: EUR 50,000). 
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The current provisions consist of the following:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Shareholders’ meeting costs and annual report costs 103 87

Provision for bonuses/discounts 239 28

Provision for warranties and accommodation 324 176

Reporting and auditing costs 116 142
Other 166 51

948 484

The following table shows changes in the individual categories of 
provisions (including both non-current and current provisions) in the 
financial year 2011:

Personal
Customers 

and 
suppliers

Litigation Other

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000

in  

EUR ,000
As at 31.12.10 134 239 - 459 832

Utilisation 2011 13 176 - 251 440

Reversal 2011 - 4 - 2 6
Interest effects of

discount/accrued interest - - - 3 3
Addition 2011 14 163 6 597 780
Deconsolidation 2011 - 40 - 377 417
Acquisition 2011 - 381 - 128 509
As at 31.12.11 135 563 6 557 1.261

29. Financial liabilities 

The financial liabilities reported are liabilities to banks amounting to 
EUR 15,512,000 (previous year: EUR 13,204,000). These include 
liabilities falling due within one year amounting to EUR 2,320,000 
(previous year: EUR 4,243,000).

Information on the provision of collateral is contained in section 35.

30. Trade payables

Of the reported trade payables amounting to EUR 1,868,000 (previous 
year: EUR 3,042,000), EUR 1,868,000 (previous year: 3,014,000) fall 
due within one year.

31. Other financial liabilities

As of 31 December 2011 there were other financial liabilities amounting 
to EUR 1,846,000 (previous year: EUR 5,468,000).

Of the above sum, EUR 357,000 (previous year: EUR 1,515,000) is 
accounted for by obligations arising from finance leases, EUR 221,000 of 
which (previous year: EUR 1,319,000) fall due in more than one year. 
Non-current liabilities also include liabilities within the framework of 
silent participations amounting to EUR 700,000 (previous year: EUR 
1,400,000).

EUR 841,000 (previous year: EUR 2,503,000) of the other financial 
obligations reported fall due in less than one year.

32. Other liabilities

As of 31 December 2011 there were other liabilities amounting to EUR 
2,385,000 (previous year: EUR 1,132,000), of which EUR 1,802,000 
(previous year: EUR 446,000) fall due within one year. 

Non-current other liabilities comprise the special item for investment 
grants for non-current assets of EUR 219,000 (previous year: EUR 
258,000) along with accruals and deferrals from interest advantages 
associated with loans of EUR 364,000 (previous year: EUR 428,000).

The current other liabilities mainly include personnel liabilities of EUR 
1,404,000 (previous year: EUR 0), liabilities for sales tax and other taxes 
of EUR 299,000 (previous year: EUR 257,000) and social security 
liabilities of EUR 54,000 (previous year: EUR 93,000).

33. Deferred tax liabilities

The deferred tax liabilities solely relate to divergences between the IFRS 
balance sheet and the balance sheet prepared for tax purposes. Changes in 
and components of deferred taxes are explained in section B. 13 “Income 
taxes”.

34. Obligations from finance leases  

This item includes obligations from finance leases for intangible assets, for 
technical plant and machinery, and for office and operating equipment. 
The terms of the finance leases entered into are between three and five 
years. The interest rates on which the individual agreements are based are 
between 7.0 % and 16.7 % p.a. They are reported under other financial 
liabilities.

Liabilities from finance leases (present value):

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

With a remaining term of less than one year 136 196
With a remaining term of more than one year  

    and up to five years 219 593
With a remaining term of more than five years 2 726

357 1,515

The minimum lease payments from the agreements entered into are as 
follows:

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

With a remaining term of less than one year 163 291
With a remaining term of more than one year  

    and up to five years 250 803
With a remaining term of more than five years 2 120

415 1.214

Less as yet unrealised interest expenses -58 -384

Plus remaining lease liability - 685

Present value of the minimum lease payments to be made 357 1.515

EUR 35,000 (previous year: EUR 10,000) in contingent lease payments 
from continuing operations were recognised as expenses in the reporting 
period.
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D. Other notes 

35. Disclosures on financial instruments 

Risk analysis for financial instruments 

The risk management system for the Nanogate Group covers the areas of 
default risk, liquidity risk and individual market risks (interest rate risk, 
currency risk and other price risks). The objectives, methods and processes 
of the risk management system are described in the risk report section of 
the management report.

Default risk

The default risk arises from the danger that a contractual partner cannot 
fulfil its obligations in a transaction arising from a financial instrument 
and thereby causes financial losses in the Nanogate Group.

The amount of financial assets indicates the maximum default risk. If 
default risks are identifiable for financial assets, these risks are recognised 
by means of impairment charges.
 
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that existing or future payment obligations 
cannot be settled due to a lack of available cash. It is managed centrally 
for the Nanogate Group. Cash is held to ensure solvency at all times and 
to enable the Group to meet all of its planned payment obligations as they 
fall due. Liquidity is managed on the basis of a maturity analysis for 
financial liabilities. The results of this analysis as at the balance sheet date 
(31 December 2011) are shown in the individual categories of financial 
liabilities.

The flotation of Nanogate AG in October 2006 and the capital increase in 
cash completed in 2011 enabled the company to advance its planned 
growth within the Nanogate Group. In addition to organic growth, this 
has also entailed making acquisitions. There was no material liquidity risk 
as at 31 December 2011.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flows 
from a financial instrument due to changes in market prices. Market risk 
includes currency risk, interest rate risk and miscellaneous price risk.

Sensitivity analysis is a method of measuring risk. It enables an estimate 
to be made of potential losses to future income, fair values or the cash 
flows of instruments sensitive to market risks by simulating one or more 
hypothetical changes in interest rates, exchange rates, raw materials prices 
and other relevant market rates or prices in a given period.

We use sensitivity analysis as it enables reasonable risk estimates to be 
made on the basis of direct assumptions. In our risk estimate, we have 
assumed a parallel shift of 100 basis points in the yield curves for all 
currencies.

Currency risk

Currency risk means that the value of a financial instrument can change 
as a result of exchange rate fluctuations. Both the Group’s sales and 
purchases are transacted essentially with companies based in the euro 
area. There is no material currency risk in these consolidated financial 
statements.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk is caused by the fact that the value of a financial 
instrument can change as a result of fluctuations in the market interest 
rate. The Nanogate Group is particularly exposed to interest rate risk for 
financial assets and liabilities falling due in more than one year.
 
The risk of changes in capital market interest rates gives rise to a fair value 
risk for fixed-income financial instruments, as fair values fluctuate in line 
with interest rates. Financial instruments at floating rates are exposed to 
cash flow risk, as interest payments can go up in future.

A sensitivity analysis was carried out for our floating-rate financial 
instruments as at year-end 2011. A hypothetical increase of 100 basis 
points or 1 percentage point p.a. in these interest rates as at 1 January 
2011 would have increased earnings by EUR 81,000 as at 31 December 
2011. 

Other price risks

Among other things, the Nanogate Group requires chemicals for its 
various production processes. The purchasing prices for these raw 
materials can vary considerably depending on the state of the market. It 
also cannot be ruled out that tighter European regulations may mean that 
it is no longer economically attractive for certain suppliers of raw 
materials to manufacture certain materials required for production. If 
 Nanogate is then unable to find alternative solutions for these materials, 
this could have an adverse effect on the company’s performance.  

General legal risks

The Nanogate Group is insured against the dangers and risks that 
generally arise. There are no material risks of a general legal nature as per 
31 December 2011. 

Collateral

Collateral was provided to banks comprising the assignment of trade 
receivables totalling EUR 1.9 million. Other assets assigned as collateral 
included machinery and technical equipment (EUR 2.5 million), 
inventories (EUR 0.8 million) and industrial property rights (EUR 0.2 
million).

There is also a land charge for EUR 7.6 million, of which EUR 5.4 million 
is still open as of 31 December 2011.

Objectives of capital management

The objectives of capital management are to safeguard liquidity, thereby 
ensuring the continued existence of the company, and to increase 
enterprise value sustainably while earning an adequate return on equity. 
The Management Board regularly reviews various performance indicators 
relating to Nanogate’s capital base against the financial strategy drawn up 
for	the	company.	Key	financial	indicators	include	leverage,	gearing	(static	
and dynamic) and the equity ratio. Performance targets include reducing 
the cost of capital as well as optimising the capital structure and cash 
flows from financing activities.
 
Risk management

In view of the persistent market and industry situation in the nanotech-
nology sector, the company’s risk and opportunity policy is geared 
particularly towards the achievement and safeguarding of long-term 
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profitable growth. For this to be achieved, prompt and timely reactions to 
the changing market conditions are essential.

The Nanogate Group’s risk management consists of several interlocking 
planning, monitoring and information systems.

These encompass every area and segment of the company, including the 
portfolio companies, and are adjusted constantly to the changing 
underlying conditions.

Information on financial instruments by category

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of 
individual financial assets and liabilities for every category of financial 
instruments held in the Nanogate Group as well as a reconciliation with 
the corresponding items in the balance sheet. 

Financial assets 2011 2010

31.12. 

2011

Amor-

tised

cost

Fair

value

31.12. 

2010

Amor-

tised

cost

Fair

value

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000
Loans and receivables 

(including cash

and cash equivalents)
Financial assets

Non-current (solely loans) 193 193 - 224 224 -
Current 85 85 - 55 55 -
Trade receivables (non-current) 10 10 - - - -

Trade receivables (current) 3,776 3,776 - 4,372 4,372 -

Cash and cash equivalents 8,957 8,957 - 4,067 4,067 -

Total loans and receivables 

(including cash

and cash equivalents) 13,021 13,021 - 8,718 8,718 -

Financial assets available  

for sale

Financial assets non-current 

Equity holdings not included 

in the consolidated financial 

statements 847 847 - 1,099 1,099 -

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss

Financial assets non-current 

Caps (mark-to-market) 25 - 25 - - -

Financial liabilities 2011 2010

31.12. 

2011

Amor-

tised

cost

Fair

value

31.12. 

2010

Amor-

tised

cost

Fair

value

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000
Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost
Financial liabilities 15,512 15,512 - 13,204 13,204 -
Other financial liabilities 

Non-current 700 700 - 1,603 1,603 -
Current 685 685 2,288 2,288 -
Trade payables 1,868 1,868 - 3,042 3,042 -
Total financial liabilities at 

amortised cost 18,765 18,765 - 20,137 20,137 -
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss
Derivatives (mark-to-market) 105 - 105 61 - 61

The sum of the positive carrying amounts corresponds to the Nanogate 
Group’s maximum default risk arising from financial assets. With the 
exception of financial instruments held for trading – which are classified 
as level one using the fair value hierarchy laid out in IFRS 7.27 A – the 
financial instruments are valued at level three.

Expenses, income, gains and losses from financial instruments have been 
assigned to the following categories:

2011
Loans 

and 

receivables

Financial 

assets

available 

for sale

Assets

at fair value

through

profit or loss

Liabilities

measured

at amortised 

cost

Liabilities

at fair value

through

profit or loss

Total 

2011

EUR  

,000 

EUR 

 ,000 

EUR  

,000 

EUR 

,000

EUR  

,000

EUR 

 ,000
Interest income 72 - - - 9 81

Interest expenses - - - -758 -36 -794

Income from equity 

investments - - - - - -
Changes in fair value - - -40 - -43 -83

Impairment expenses -1,153 - - - - -1,153

Income from 

write-backs - - - - - -
Gain/loss 

on disposals  

(+ gain, - loss) - - - - - -
Other financial 

expenses and income

(+ gain, - loss)

 

 

10

 

 

 

 

-

 

 

-87

 

 

 

 

-77
Net result from 

continuing  

operations

 

 

-1,071

 

 

-

 

 

-40

 

 

-845

 

 

-70

 

 

-2,026
Net result from 

discontinued 

operations

 

 

-

 

 

-

 

 

-

 

 

-370

 

 

-

 

 

-370

2010
Loans 

and 

receivables

Financial 

assets

available 

for sale

Assets

at fair value

through

profit or loss

Liabilities

measured

at amortised 

cost

Liabilities

at fair value

through

profit or loss

Total 

2010

EUR  

,000 

EUR 

 ,000 

EUR  

,000 

EUR 

,000

EUR  

,000

EUR 

 ,000
Interest income 124 - - - 3 127

Interest expenses - - - -159 -9 -168

Income from equity 

investments - - - - - -
Changes in fair value - - - - 3 3

Impairment expenses -382 - - - - -382

Income from 

write-backs

 

- - - - - -
Gain/loss 

on disposals  

(+ gain, - loss)

 

 

-2

 

 

7

 

 

-

 

 

-

 

 

-

 

 

5
Other financial 

expenses and income

(+ gain, - loss)

 

 

2

 

 

2

 

 

-

 

 

-

 

 

-

 

 

4
Net result from 

continuing  

operations

 

 

-258

 

 

9

 

 

0

 

 

-159

 

 

-3

 

 

-411
Net result from 

discontinued 

operations

 

 

-63

 

 

-25

 

 

-

 

 

-531

 

 

-

 

 

-619
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36. Segment reporting 

Dividing the segments into Multifunctional Surfaces and Advanced 
Applications corresponds to the structure of internal reports (“manage-
ment approach”) to the Management Board as the main decision-making 
authority. Internal performance measurement for the segments is 
primarily carried out by means of the operating result (before interest 
income and expenses and before income taxes) and personnel expenses per 
segment.

Multifunctional Surfaces 

The Multifunctional Surfaces segment mainly comprises the enhancement 
of products by means of surface functionalisation in order to develop new 
properties. This involves combining business activities which encompass 
the manufacturing and selling of chemical products, the enhancement, 
sale and/or contract processing of prefabricated and/or semi-finished 
products, and licensing and material engineering in the aforementioned 
areas. In this segment, the Nanogate Group concentrated primarily on the 
application areas of buildings/interiors, automotive/mechanical 
engineering and sport/leisure.

Advanced Applications

The Advanced Applications segment covers complex applications and 
systems for highly specialised markets which are characterised by 
substantial sales potential as well as a considerably longer time to market. 
This segment encompasses fields such as security systems and new 
technologies.

2011 Advanced 

Applications

Multifunctional 

Surfaces

Total of

segments 

Reconcilia-

tion GroupSegment information 
EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Segment revenue 

(external)

 

85

 

33,159

 

33,244

 

-

 

33,244
Segment revenue 

(internal)

 

-

 

1,653

 

1,653

 

-1,653

 

-
Key	income

and expense items

Personnel expenses

 

 

682

 

 

10,942

 

 

11,624

 

 

564

 

 

12,188
Depreciation/

amortisation 286 1,835 2,121 381 2,502
Segment EBIT -1,344 2,884 1,540 -549 991

2010 Advanced 

Applications

Multifunctional 

Surfaces

Total of

segments 

Reconcilia-

tion GroupSegment information 
EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Segment revenue 

(external)

 

11

 

15,422

 

15,433 -

 

15,433
Segment revenue 

(internal)

 

-

 

264

 

264

 

-264

 

-
Key	income

and expense items

Personnel expenses

 

 

707

 

 

4,391

 

 

5,098

 

 

984

 

 

6,082
Depreciation/

amortisation 3,040 972 4,012 280 4,292
Segment EBIT -3,809 2,611 -1,198 1,998 800

Segment revenue (internal) shows the sales generated between segments. 
The prices for intra-Group sales are determined by the market (arm’s 
length principle).

The following table shows the reconciliation with the operating result 
(EBIT). The reconciliation eliminates intra-Group items as well as income 
and expenses not directly attributable to the segments.

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Operating result of reporting segments 1,540 -1,198

Reconciliation -549 1,998

Operating result (EBIT) 991 800

Net financial result -1,302 -480
Earnings before taxes -311 320

Information about geographical areas

The following table shows external sales by region of final use:

2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Gross revenue: Germany 20,366 10,458

 Abroad*) 13,125 5,130

33,491 15,589
less: Sales deductions -247 -156
 Overall Group 33,244 15,433

 *) of which in

 European Union 11,481 3,634

 Other countries 1,643 1,496

13,125 5,130

Further intersegmental information is not disclosed, as calculating it 
would involve unreasonable costs and any data generated would not 
contribute significantly to improving the presentation of the Group’s 
assets, financial and earnings position.

37. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows 

The statement of cash flows records the payment flows in the financial 
year in order to present information about the movements in the 
company’s cash and cash equivalents. A distinction is made between cash 
flows from operating, investing and financing activities.

Please refer to section B. 25 “Cash and cash equivalents” for a detailed 
breakdown of this item.

Cash flow from operating activities is determined using the indirect 
method by adjusting earnings before tax for non-cash expenses and 
income and changes in net current assets.

Cash flow from investing and financing activities is determined on a cash 
basis.

The company also has access to unused credit lines amounting to 
EUR 4,085,000 (previous year: EUR 1,873,000), which could be used  
for operating activities or to fulfil future obligations.

38. Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations

Contingent liabilities 

Nanogate has given Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken, a joint guaran tee 
amounting	to	EUR	125,000	for	a	bank	loan	to	HOLMENKOL	AG,	
 Ditzingen. The loan falls due on 30 September 2014. As of the reporting 
date Nanogate AG’s had an outstanding joint liability of EUR 37,000.

In addition to the liabilities shown in the balance sheet, Nanogate has 
given a third-party guarantee on behalf of MBG. As of the reporting date 
the guarantee was for EUR 70,000.
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Other financial obligations

The Nanogate Group’s contractual obligations (operating leases) to third 
parties as of 31 December 2011 were as follows:

Due

< 1 year 2 - 5 years > 5 years Total

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Building rental agreement 579 1,740 1,662 3,981

Other rental/lease agreements 164 95 - 259

743 1,835 1,662 4,240

The previous year the following amounts were disclosed for operating 
leases:

Due

< 1 year 2 - 5 years > 5 years Total

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Building rental agreement 365 1,341 1,805 3,511

Other rental/lease agreements 208 539 2 749

573 1,880 1,807 4,260

When determining the terms of the other financial obligations, the 
earliest possible termination periods were assumed for the indefinite rental 
and lease agreements.

Payments of EUR 656,000 (previous year: EUR 539,000) under leases 
and subleases for continuing operations were recognised as expenses in 
the reporting period in accordance with IAS 17.35.

39. Significant events after the balance sheet date 31 December 2011

Nanogate is stepping up its activities in the growing market for functional 
textiles and care products. The company has pooled these operations at 
Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH (formerly FNP GmbH) to 
enable the firm to capitalise better on the opportunities in this field. This 
step was taken with effect from 1 January 2012.

Nanogate expanded its Management Board as of 1 May 2012. The 
company’s Supervisory Board has appointed Daniel Seibert (43) as Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO). He is responsible for finance and controlling as 
well as other areas. The rest of the Management Board remains un-
changed, with the company’s co-founder Ralf Zastrau as CEO and 
Michael Jung as COO. In addition to this, Nanogate is establishing an 
Executive Committee, which will consist of the Management Board plus 
the CEOs of the two strategic equity holdings GfO AG and Eurogard 
B.V., Gerd Leichner and Anthony Lucassen.

40. Number of employees 

Employees (average for the year): 

2011 2010

Blue-collar employees 163 62

White-collar employees 89 79

252 141

Apprentices 8 11
260 152

The annual average is calculated pro rata temporis for companies 
consolidated for the first time or deconsolidated.

The members of the Management Board are not included in the average 
number of employees during the year.

The Nanogate Group employed 242 staff (previous year: 229) as of the 
balance sheet date; there were six apprentices at the end of the year 
(previous year: seven).

The personnel expenses recognised do not include expenses for the staff of 
HOLMENKOL	AG,	which	are	presented	under	discontinued	operations.	
The following table therefore shows the average number of employees for 
the	year	without	the	staff	of	HOLMENKOL	AG:

2011 2010

Blue-collar employees 159 58

White-collar employees 69 57

228 115

Apprentices 6 9
234 124

41. Related party disclosures 

Related parties within the meaning of IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures) 
are those persons or entities that have control, joint control with other 
entities, or significant influence over Nanogate AG.

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are also related parties of 
Nanogate AG. Subsidiaries and joint ventures are also related parties for 
one another.

Related parties are also key management personnel, their close family 
members and companies over which these persons exercise control, joint 
control or significant influence.

The direct parent company is Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn.  
Its head office is in Germany.

Business transactions in 2011 and 2010 between Nanogate AG and its 
subsidiaries were eliminated in the course of consolidation and are not 
explained in these disclosures. Transactions with non-consolidated 
subsidiaries were carried out on arm’s length terms.

In addition to the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements, the wholly owned subsidiary FNP GmbH was established in 
November 2008. 

Furthermore,	the	subsidiary	HOLMENKOL	Co.	Ltd.,	Osaka,	Japan,	 
was	established	by	HOLMENKOL	AG	in	the	financial	year	2008.	
HOLMENKOL	AG	holds	85.0	%	of	its	shares.

As a result of the change in its status, the acquisition date for HOLMEN-
KOL	AG	as	an	associated	company	is	1	December	2011.	As	a	result	of	the	
disposal of shares which led to the loss of the majority interest, HOL-
MENKOL	AG	is	presented	in	the	income	statement	as	a	discontinued	
operation in line with IFRS 5. As the stand-alone approach was chosen, 
transactions were not eliminated in 2011 and 2010 and are explained 
accordingly.
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The following transactions with related parties were carried out in the 
reporting year:

Sale of goods
Services

rendered

Services

received
Loans granted

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000
Subsidiary - FNP 27 114 21 49 2 1 25 150
Subsidiary	-	HOLMENKOL	

Co. Ltd until 30.11.2011 161 306 - - - - - -
Subsidiary	-	HOLMENKOL	

AG until 30.11.2011 357 272 - - - - 100 -
Associated company 

HOLMENKOL	AG	from	

1.12.2011 6 - 64 - - - - -
551 692 85 49 2 1 125 150

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period:

Liabilities Receivables

2011 2010 2011 2010

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Subsidiary - FNP - - 413 369
Subsidiary	-	HOLMENKOL	Co.	Ltd	

until 30.11.2011 - - - 255
Associated company 

HOLMENKOL	AG - - 1,119 -
- - 1,532 624

Loans are granted at rates of interest comparable to average market rates.

Overdue receivables from FNP were written down by EUR 385,000 in 
2011 (previous year: EUR 367,000). Overdue receivables owed by 
HOLMENKOL	AG	were	also	written	down	by	EUR	1,119,000	(previous	
year: EUR 0). 

There were no other relationships with related parties not included in the 
consolidated financial statements in the financial year 2011. There were no 
major transactions with other companies or related parties having a 
significant influence over the Nanogate Group in the reporting period. 

Shares and stock options held by the boards of Nanogate AG 

As at the respective balance sheet date, board members held the following 
shares and stock options in Nanogate AG either directly or indirectly:

31.12.2011 31.12.2010
No. of 

shares

No. of 

options 

No. of 

shares

No. of 

options 
Management Board

Michael Jung 38,801 18,859 37,787 15,859

Ralf M. Zastrau 59,627 20,641 52,132 17,641

Supervisory Board

Oliver Schumann 3,250 6,125 1,250 8,125
Dr Farsin Yadegardjam 5,438 3,937 1,000 8,375

Gerhard Asschenfeldt 3,000 - - -

Dr Clemens Doppler 2,000 - 3,050 -

Marc Faber 4,092 - 500 -

Hartmut Gottschild 3,750 - 1,000 2,750

The shares/options held by members of the Supervisory Board were 
purchased privately.

Remuneration of employees in key positions

The members of the Management Board and other employees in key 
positions at Nanogate AG and its subsidiaries received current payments 
during the financial year amounting to EUR 956,000 (previous year: 
EUR 980,000) in 2011.

42. Company boards

Supervisory Board of Nanogate AG

Oliver Schumann, Bad Soden, Chairman of the Supervisory Board; 
partner at European Co-Investment Partners.

Dr Farsin Yadegardjam, Roßdorf, Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, full-time member of the Management Board of EVP Capital 
Management AG.

Gerhardt Asschenfeldt, Bad Homburg, management consultant.

Dr Clemens Doppler, Heidelberg, Managing Partner at HeidelbergCapi-
tal Private Equity Fund, Heidelberg.

Marc Faber, Bertrange, Luxembourg, management consultant, formerly 
Senior Investment Partner at BIP Investment Partner SA, Luxembourg.

Hartmut Gottschild, Aalen, management consultant.

The members of the Supervisory Board received remuneration totalling 
EUR 80,000 (previous year: EUR 80,000).

Management Board

Ralf M. Zastrau, Saarbrücken, degrees in business studies and business 
IT, MBA; full-time Chairman of the Management Board of Nanogate 
AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn, Managing Director of Nanogate Industrial 
Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, and Managing Director of 
Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands.
 
Michael Jung, Riegelsberg, degree in engineering; full-time member of 
the Management Board of Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn, and 
member of the Management Board of GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächen-
technik AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd.

No loans or advances were made to members of the company boards.

Quierschied-Göttelborn, 20 April 2012

Nanogate AG 

Ralf M. Zastrau  Michael Jung 
Chairman of the Member of the 
Management Board/CEO  Management Board/COO 
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Auditors’ report

To Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttel-
born, Germany, comprising the income statement and statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
financial position, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements, together with the Group management report for the financial year from 
1 January to 31 December 2011. It is the responsibility of the company’s statutory representatives to 
prepare the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report in accordance with 
IFRS as applicable in the EU. Our responsibility is to express an opinion of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 317 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) and the German generally accepted standards for the audit of 
financial statements promulgated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements 
materially affecting the presentation of the assets, financial and earnings position in the consolidated 
financial statements and in the Group management report in accordance with applicable accounting 
standards	are	detected	with	reasonable	assurance.	Knowledge	of	the	business	activities	and	the	economic	
and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into 
account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal 
control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 
The audit includes an assessment of the annual financial statements of the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements, the definition of the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the 
statutory representatives, as well as an evaluation of the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any objections.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with 
the legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the assets, financial and earnings position of the 
Group in accordance with IFRS as applicable in the EU. The Group management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and altogether provides a correct view of the Group’s position 
and correctly presents the opportunities and risks for future development.

Regensburg, Germany, 23 April 2012

CM Treuhandgesellschaft Regensburg mbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Mehltretter 
Auditor
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Imprint / Contact

Contact:

Imprint:

Nanogate AG
Zum Schacht 3
D-66287 Quierschied-Göttelborn, Germany
Telephone:  +49(0)6825-9591-0
Fax:  +49(0)6825-9591-852
Email: info@nanogate.com
www.nanogate.com
http://twitter.com/nanogate_ag

Contact for Investor Relations
Cortent	Kommunikation	AG
Christian Dose
Telephone:  49(0)69-57 70 300-0
Fax:  49(0)69-57 70 300-10
nanogate@cortent.de 

The annual report of Nanogate AG is available in German and English.
The German Version is legally binding.

Resonsible:  Nanogate AG
Text:		 Cortent	Kommunikation	AG
Translation: EnglishBusiness AG 
 www.englishbusiness.de
Design &  
Production: IDEEN! Netzwerk und Ottweiler Druckerei und Verlag GmbH
Photos:  Nanogate AG

www.englishbusiness.de
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Engine components (valve)
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